

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN SCIENZE BIOMEDICHE E BIOTECNOLOGICHE

CICLO XXIX

COORDINATORE Prof. Paolo Pinton

EFFECTS OF ADIPOSE-DERIVED STEM CELLS TREATMENT IN RECALCITRANT CHRONIC LEG ULCERS: A PHASE II RANDOMIZED CONTROL TRIAL

Settore Scientifico Disciplinare MED/22

Dottorando

Tutore

Dott.ssa Ilaria Zollino

Prof. Paolo Zamboni

Anni 2014/2016

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	3
1.1 Physiological wound healing	4
1.2. Pathophysiology of chronic wounds	7
1.2.1. Venous and mixed leg ulcers. A prominent problem of social medic	<i>rine</i> 8
2. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE IN WOUND HEALING	11
2.1 Cell-based therapy	11
2.2 Scaffolds	12
2.3 Scaffolds seeded with cells	
2.4 Scaffolds and nanotechnology	13
3. ADIPOSE-DERIVED STEM CELLS (ADSCs) PROPERTIES	14
3.1 Coleman's Technique	14
3.2. Safety of Coleman's Technique for ADSCs harvesting	17
3.3. ADSCs in wound healing	19
3.4 Histology of the wound healing process and potential role of ADSCs	
3.5. Limitations of using ADSCs	
4. DIAGNOSIS OF ULCER PATHOGENESIS AND SYNCHRONOUS VA	SCULAR
TREATMENTS AND WOUND CARE	
5. MOTIVATION AND NOVELTY OF THE RESEARCH	
5.1 Aim of the study	
5.2. Material and Methods	
5.2.1. Patient recruitment	
5.2.2. Procedures	
5.2.3. Outcome measures	
5.2.4. Isolation and expansion of autologous ADSCs	
5.2.5. Multicolour flow cytometric analysis of freshly isolated SVF	
5.2.6. CFU-F assay of SVF	
5.2.7. Multilineage potential of SVF	

5.2.8. Immunophenotypic analysis of cultured ADSCs-derived SVF fraction3	33
5.2.9. Histology	33
5.2.10. Statistical analysis	33
5.3. Results	33
5.3.1. Patients	33
5.3.2. Primary endpoint	34
5.3.3. Secondary endpoints	35
5.3.4. Histopathological results	37
5.3.5. Multicolour flow cytometric analysis of freshly isolated SVF	38
5.3.6. In vitro expansion of SVF and CFU-F assay	39
5.3.7. Immunophenotypic analysis of cultured ADSCs-derived SVF fraction 4	10
5.3.8. Multilineage potential of SVF 4	10
5.3.9. Correlation between the clinical outcomes and cell characterization	10
5.4. Discussion	11
5.5. Conclusion	14

. 45
. 4

REFERENCES	47
REFERENCES	4/

APPENDIX

Keratin scaffold Scaffold preparation and co-culture Growth of cells on the scaffold Conclusion List of abbreviations

REFERENCES

1. INTRODUCTION

Wound healing constitutes an intricate process, which requires coordinated interaction between diverse immunological and biological systems and includes different cell types and molecules. When the healing process fails to result in structural integrity or to follow an orderly and timely sequence, a chronic wound develops [1].

Chronic wounds are a major problem in medicine today as their incidence is continuously increasing due to an ageing population and a growth in the incidence of underlying diseases [2], causing a reduction in patient quality of life and rising health care costs. The incidence of severe burns in the United States is estimated at 70,000 per year by studies [2,3]; venous leg ulcers occur at a level of between 600,000 and 1,500,000 [3]; and the prevalence of chronic foot wounds in diabetics is 15 to 20 percent [4]. The cost of dressings alone to care for the above-mentioned cases has been estimated at \$5\$ billion per year from healthcare budgets [5].

These wounds fail to heal due to several factors, which can include: prolonged or excessive inflammation, persistent infections, the formation of drug-resistant microbial biofilms, and the inability of dermal and/or epidermal cells to respond to reparative stimuli [6-9]. In such situations conventional therapies which incorporate surgery, dressings and topical negative pressure among other treatments are increasingly reaching their limits, motivating the use of skin grafts, advanced therapies and the search for substitute treatment options, including stem cell-based therapies [2].

Over the last few years, stem cell application has been put forward as a promising novel therapy for regenerative medicine. This is due both to the stem cells' infinite capacity for self-renewal and the ability to differentiate into multiple cell types under appropriate stimuli [10]. In addition, stem cells are pluripotent and secrete a variety of growth factors. Following the initial attention paid to embryonic pluripotent cells however, different types of adult stem cells have since been studied as a valid and continuous source of stem cells that are readily obtained. The most common source is bone marrow, probably because it can be easily and swiftly accessed and also because various devices are applicable for marrow harvesting (from bone marrow transplantation). The marrow contains hematopoietic cells, mesenchymal cells, and other cell types which may contribute to the

promotion of tissue regeneration. Yet the limited amount of source material harvested and the low yield of cell isolation protocols are a major limitation to intraoperative stem cell therapy approaches. To surmount these challenges and obviate the requirement for highly invasive bone marrow harvesting, a procedure causing pain at the aspiration site, alternative sources should be sought from which to isolate autologous stem cells [11]. In this field, adipose derived stem cells (ADSCs) are the stem cell of choice, being abundant, harvestable via a minimally-invasive procedure, providing an elevated yield when isolated and proving suitable for clinical application without prior manipulation [12]. The mechanism for healing chronic wounds using ADSCs is built around direct differentiation towards lineage-committed cells, or on the production of angiogenic growth factors such as platelet-derived growth factor (VEGF); ADSCs migrate to the wound site through paracrine effects and catalyse wound healing, as well as fusion and differentiation [13].

Although stem cell therapy is a comparatively new tool, there have been several cases where their capacity to heal wounds has been established as well as several studies which have shown that these types of cells can be used safely.

1.1 Physiological wound healing

Cutaneous wound healing represents a complex biological process involving regenerating dermal and epidermal tissues consisting of four different but temporally and spatially overlapping steps: haemostasis, inflammation, proliferation (with formation of granulation tissue) and remodeling [14]. Hemostasis occurs immediately after injury and is characterized by vasoconstriction and blood-clotting cascade, preventing excessive bleeding and providing the provisional matrix for cell migration to ensure temporary protection of the wound area. PDGF and transforming growth factors A1 and 2 (TGF-A1 and TGF-2) are released during this process, attracting inflammatory cells such as leukocytes and macrophages. Cytokines initiate the healing process by attracting fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and immune cells. The subsequent inflammation phase lasts up to 7 days, involving apoptosis of inflammatory cells such as neutrophils and macrophages. Proteases and reactive oxygen species (ROS) are released by neutrophils, preventing contamination of bacteria and cleansing the wound of cellular debris. Blood

monocytes reach the wound site and differentiate into macrophages. These macrophages remove bacteria and nonviable tissue through phagocytosis and also release various growth factors and cytokines. Endothelial cells, keratinocytes and fibroblasts, are recruited to repair the damaged vessels [15].



Figure 1. Inflammatory phase after skin lesion: hemostasis and invasion of inflammatory cells.

The proliferation phase begins as the inflammatory phase subsides accompanied by apoptosis of immune cells. The production of growth factors and activation of dermal and epidermal cells in this phase leads to tissue granulation, angiogenesis and epithelialization. Endothelial progenitor cells, which are important for physiological wound healing, are mobilised by VEGF, matrix metalloproteinase (MMP9) and nitric oxide. Formation of extra-cellular matrix (ECM) rich tissue occurs in response to insulin-like growth factor (IGF) and stromal cell-derived factor (SDF) [2,15].



Figure 2. *Proliferative phase: organisation of the clot, secretion of growth factors, synthesis of collagen III and initiation of angiogenesis.*

The last phase takes place once the wound has closed and may last 1–2 years. During this phase, matrix remodelling into organized collagen bundles [16,17] and/or scar formation through cellular migration, proliferation and angiogenic induction is initiated by TGF-A, matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) [18].



Figure 3. *Remodelling phase: the regenerative process concludes and is followed by matrix remodelling and scar formation.*

1.2. Pathophysiology of chronic wounds

Chronic wounds are the result of an interruption in the progression of one or more of the four phases of the normal cellular and biochemical processes towards re-establishing skin's integrity. Thus, they represent a failure to reach complete re-epithelization in the proper temporal sequence of tissue repair [19].

Ninety per cent of all chronic wounds are comprised of venous ulcers, pressure ulcers and diabetic ulcers, which are the most common types of chronic wounds [20]. Both local and systemic factors can be involved in chronic wound etiopathogenesis. Ischaemia, arterial/venous insufficiency, local toxins, trauma and radiation are very important local infection factors. Ageing, chronic diseases, alcoholism, smoking, drugs, nutritional deficiencies, chronic kidney disease and neuropathies seem to be the most important systemic factors [21].

Local Factors	Systemic Factors			
Oxygenation	Age and gender			
Infection	Sex hormones			
Foreign body	Stress			
Venous sufficiency	Ischemia			
	Diseases: diabetes, keloids, fibrosis, hereditary healing disorders, jaundice, uremia Obesity			
	Medications: glucocorticoid steroids, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, chemotherapy Alcoholism and smoking			
	Immunocompromised conditions: cancer, radiation therapy, AIDS			
	Nutrition			

Table 1. Local and systemic factors involved in chronic wound etiopathogenesis.

Although there are differences in etiology at molecular level, chronic wounds share certain common features, which include: the prolonged inflammatory phase, the lack of appropriate metabolism and clearance of toxic substances from the wound resulting in very high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, proteases, ROS, and senescent cells, the existence of persistent infection, the formation of drug resistant microbial bio-films, the inability of dermal and/or epidermal cells to respond to regenerative stimuli [2], and a deficiency in stem cells, which are often also dysfunctional.

The incessant and chronic inflammatory state which characterises chronic wounds is the basis for ECM degradation due to the loss of important wound healing products, such as PDGF and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), which are respectively broken down by ROS or MMPs and elastases secreted by neutrophils [22]. In particular, platelet-derived factors such as transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) or ECM fragment molecules and microorganisms stimulate the constant influx of immune cells, due to repeated tissue injury; the pro-inflammatory cytokine cascade is therefore amplified and continues for an extended period, leading to high levels of proteases. Proteases are tightly regulated by their inhibitors in acute wounds, while in chronic wounds, protease levels exceed those of their respective inhibitors. Therefore, in chronic wound fluid, pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-a), interleukin-1 (IL-1) as well as MMPs and neutrophil elastase are enhanced, leading to the destruction of ECM and a degradation of growth factors and their receptors. Although the production of growth factors is often increased in chronic wound fluid by comparison with acute wound fluid, their quantity and bioavailability are decreased [18]. Moreover, proteolytic destruction of ECM both precludes the wound from progressing into the proliferative phase and attracts more inflammatory cells, amplifying the inflammation cycle [23]. Immune cells produce ROS, providing defense against microorganisms when in low concentrations. In chronic wounds, however, the predominant hypoxic and inflammatory environment boosts ROS production, damaging ECM proteins and causing damage to cells. This sequence of events brings about an enhanced stimulation of proteases and inflammatory cytokines [24]. Furthermore, chronic wounds are characterized by senescent cell populations with impaired proliferative and secretory capacities, which means that they do not respond to normal wound healing signals [17]. Accumulated data also show that chronic wounds comprise senescent keratinocytes, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, and macrophages [25-28]. Oxidative stress is thought to be the cause of the senescent phenotype of cells in chronic wounds. This leads to DNA damage-related cell cycle arrest, or to abnormal metabolic changes in diabetic patients, which in turn bring about defects in intracellular biochemical pathways such as the GSK-3β/Fyn/Nrf2 pathway [27-29].

1.2.1. Venous and mixed leg ulcers. A prominent problem of social medicine

Chronic venous disease (CVD) is a common condition that afflicts the general population, and it certainly represents the most widespread vascular pathology. In the majority of cases, it is a minimally disabling disease, but a significant proportion of cases may progress towards chronic venous leg ulceration (CVU) [30].



Figure 4. Clinical representation of CVD severity, following the CEAP classification (Clinical, Etiology, Anatomic, Pathophysiology).

In the "Edinburgh vein study" Robertson et al. [31] stated that the CVD ratio in a peerinvestigated population is higher and higher, with a 1 % increase year-on-year. The deep venous system was affected in 1/3 and the superficial venous system was affected in 2/3 of this population.

Despite superficial venous insufficiency being the pattern most frequently associated with venous leg ulcers, the prognosis is worsened when co-morbidities (rheumatoid arthritis, malnutrition, diabetes, chronic anaemia, etc), second stage peripheral arterial disease or any other vascular pathology are involved. For this reason we usually speak of mixed venous leg ulcers [30,32-34].

Impairment of venous hemodynamic is an essential but insufficient factor in explaining the progression of the disease to the point of skin lesion, or even to explain the frequent presence of non healing CVU [35,36].

Risk factors for venous ulceration

Direct risk factors

- Varicose veins
- Deep vein thrombosis
- Chronic venous insufficiency
- Poor calf muscle function
- Arterio-venous fistulae
- Obesity
- History of leg fracture

Indirect risk factors

- All risk factors leading to deep vein thrombosis including protein-C, protein-S, and anti-thrombin III deficiency
- Family history of varicose veins
- A history of minor trauma prior to the development of ulceration may also be identified

Table 2. Risk factors for venous ulceration.

Venous surgery can be helpful in achieving healing and more than all the other options in preventing recurrences [37-42].

However, not all CVU patients are candidates for surgery due to comorbidity conditions; compression, wound-care and debridement still remain the first-line treatments for such disabling diseases. Finally, it has been reported that the CVU healing rate is highly variable in the literature (35%-85%), and various controlled trials report a significant proportion of recalcitrant ulceration, which responds to treatment but does not heal [41, 43, 44]. In such situations skin grafts and advanced dressings are currently used to achieve healing, and new regenerative approaches have been proposed. One of the more interesting among the latter is ADSCs.

2. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE IN WOUND HEALING

The goal of the novel field of regenerative medicine is to reestablish function and structure in damaged tissue through the use of three tools: cell-based therapy, biomaterials (or scaffolds), or/and scaffolds seeded with cells [45].

2.1 Cell-based therapy

Cell-based therapy represents a set of strategies which use live cells with therapeutic aims. It includes stem cells, which are undifferentiated cells with the capability to autorenew and differentiate into progenitor or precursor cells of one or several specific cell types [46,47]. The most commonly used stem cells in regenerative medicine are adult stem cells. In particular, mesenchymal stem cells are a cluster of stem cells originating at the mesodermal germinal layer [48] [49] and can be isolated from various tissue sources in adults [50]. The use of these cells does not raise any ethical concerns, in contrast with using embryonic cells, and they are relatively easy to obtain. Bone marrow derived stem cells have been the focus of regenerative medicine research strategies for many years. However, current research interest is focusing on the development of ADSCs, which can be isolated directly from liposuction during plastic surgery procedures.

There have already been several clinical reports of the successful application of ADSCs in wound healing [51]. Wound healing benefits because ADSCs are multipotent, with the ability to differentiate into other specialized cells, secrete or suppress the growth hormones and cytokines necessary in the environment. They are also capable of increasing in number while displaying a stable phenotype.

Both acute and chronic wounds can be treated using cell therapy. ADSCs can improve wound healing, reduce scar contracture, and minimize donor-site morbidity in the treatment of acute wounds. Conversely, in chronic wound treatment, the wound bed is the environment where maximum healing can be achieved through the transplant of cells with excellent wound healing capacities [52].

We emphasize that wound bed preparation needs to be meticulous before implantation, in accordance with the TIME protocol (tissue, infection, moisture, environment (protocol))

[53]. The TIME principles include the basic principles of wound care that are critical for managing chronic wounds.

2.2 Scaffolds

The use of scaffolds and cellular matrices is essential to differentiate mesenchymal stem cells into the cells required and use them to produce three-dimensional tissue for use in reconstructive medicine.

An essential strategy for tissue engineering is the choice and the construction of a good quality scaffold. Preferably, the scaffold should be a structural and functional platform able to imitate the native extracellular matrix and support the morphogenesis of multiple tissues. Building on the literature, tissue-engineering scaffolds should 1) be biodegradable 2) not trigger inflammatory responses 3) have surface properties which enhance the attachment, proliferation and differentiation of cells 4) mimic skin *in vitro* 5) have the relevant mechanical properties and 6) be well suited for manufacture into different forms [45,54].

2.3 Scaffolds seeded with cells

Engineered tissue regeneration uses a biocompatible scaffold which replaces, repairs or regenerates damaged tissue in combination with living cells and/or bioactive molecules. This kind of scaffold should be biocompatible, porous and permeable to support cell adhesion and proliferation [45].

Suitable scaffolds available for adipose tissue engineering include type I collagen sponge, non-woven polyglycolic acid (PGA) and hyaluronic acid gel. Hyaluronic acid (HA) is a naturally occurring non-sulphated glycosaminoglycan which is present in connective tissue, the synovial fluid of articular joints and the vitreous humor of the eye. It is one component of the natural extracellular matrix and is important in tissue hydration, cell differentiation and tissue reparation.

HA is defined as a "suitable scaffold for adipose tissue engineering". It is highly biocompatible, does not cause adverse reactions and is reabsorbed by the host tissues [55]. In particular, *in vivo* experiments have confirmed the ideal tissue repair and restoration of

full-thickness wounds for the treatment of ulcers in a placebo-controlled study [56]. Moreover, HA and its derivatives are actively angiogenic: preliminary results in *in vivo* models demonstrate whole vena cava regeneration inside hyaluronic acid-based prosthesis, introducing innovative perspectives in microvascular surgery applications [55,57].

In a recent study, Altman at al. [58] showed that a new scaffold consisting of silk fibroinchitosan when combined with ADSCs supports the engraftment of stem cells and their differentiation into epithelial and fibrovascular components, increasing the repair and healing capacity of damaged tissues.

The microenvironment for wound regeneration depends mainly on interaction between stem cell progenitors and their niche [59]; consequently, any tissue-engineered reconstruction should provide an appropriate microenvironment for the cells to proliferate and differentiate.

2.4 Scaffolds and nanotechnology

Stem cell differentiation can also be induced by physical factors and modulation of extracellular matrix nanostructures. Indeed, since the majority of signaling molecules interact with stem cells at the nanoscale level, scaffolds with surface nanostructures have potential applications for stem cells in the field of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. The literature offers several different methods to induce such differentiation through the use of high quality nanoparticles of varying chemical composition. However, before introducing nanoparticles into clinical practice, the real biological effects of their use should be carefully assessed: releasing active peptides may conceivably cause interference with some biological functions and cellular processes [45,60].

3. ADIPOSE-DERIVED STEM CELLS (ADSCs) PROPERTIES

Adipose tissue is one of the largest tissues in the body, representing an important energy and endocrine reservoir [61]. It is mainly composed of adipocytes arranged in lobules, accounting for more than ninety per cent of the tissue volume, and of pericytes, fibroblasts, macrophages, vascular endothelial cells and an extracellular matrix [62].

Zuck et al. [63] first identified ADSCs in 2001 as a population of fibroblast cells with the ability to differentiate into myogenic, adipogenic, osteogenic and chondrogenic cells through specific induction factors. Since this time, easier isolation without major surgical procedures and donor-site morbidity, along with better availability, has sparked great clinical and research interest in ADSCs. In particular, ADSCs have attracted a lot of attention as an alternative to bone marrow stem cells. ADSCs are multi-potent stem cells, with characteristics similar to bone marrow-mesenchymal stem cells. These are demonstrated by their expression of identical cell surface markers, their comparable gene expression profiles and their similar differentiation potentialities [64]. For this reason, ADSCs have the capacity to form fat, muscle, bone and cartilage, under appropriate stimuli. They are multi-potent and produce a range of growth factors [65] such as bFGF, Keratinocyte growth factor (KGF), TGF- β , HGF and VEGF [66].

Human adipose tissue offers several advantages as a stem cell source. These include the ease with which ADSCs can be isolated and expanded, their abundance within the adipose tissue and frequency ranges from 1:100 to 1:1500 cells, far exceeding the prevalence of mesenchymal stem cells in bone marrow [67]. There is only 1 per 100,000 nucleated cells of mesenchymal stem cells in bone marrow and their quantity decreases with age [68].

Many groups have tried to optimise the isolation and expansion of ADSCs [65,69-79]. ADSCs are commonly extracted from adipose tissue in a stepwise procedure. However, the most commonly used ADSCs isolation technique is that described by Coleman.

3.1 Coleman's Technique

This method was introduced by Coleman in 1995 [80] and it was first used for facial remodeling, in breast reconstruction and breast augmentation [81,82]. It provides a

multiple stepwise procedure including aspiration, centrifugation and the subsequent reinjection of autologous fat. The fat donor sites are the abdomen, waist adipose deposit, flanks and inner sides of the thigh and knees [45].

First, Kleine's solution made up of 250 mL normal saline, 20 mL of 1% carbocaine, 1 mL adrenaline and 2 ml bicarbonate is injected into the fat donor area [83] (Figure 5).



Figure 5. *Tumescent local anaesthesia infiltration*.

After diffusion of the solution the harvesting procedure is undertaken, using a two-hole blunt cannula (Byron Medical, Tucson, AZ, USA) fitted directly to a 10 mL Luer Lock syringe (BD Syringe Luer-Lok tip; Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA), which helps to lessen the pressure caused during the harvesting procedure and preserves the fat [84] (Figure 6).



Figure 6. On the left are examples of various blunt Coleman cannulas used during the harvesting phase; on the right, the harvesting phase according to Coleman's procedure.

Following the fat harvesting, the lipoaspirate is processed via centrifugation of the lipoaspirate at 3000 rpm (rotor size: 16 cm; g force: 580) for 3 min in 10 ml syringes. This separates the fat into 3 layers (Figure 7).



Figure 7. (A) Coleman's technique for harvesting adipose tissue-derived stem cells. In this particular case, the harvesting is performed in the periumbilical area with tumescent local anaesthesia; (B) Adipose tissue aspirated. The areas with more fat are not always the best to harvest tissue for regenerative purposes; (C) The adipose tissue is then centrifuged in order to separate the different components; (D) The lower part of the adipose layers is particularly rich in stem cells, containing more than 90% ADSCs.

The upper layer (supranatant) and lower layer are discarded, as they are composed of oil from destroyed fat and blood respectively (Figure 8 E, F), leaving the middle layer, which contains a high concentration of stem cells [85,86], stromal cells, vascular endothelial and mural cells, termed the "stromal vascular fraction".

Once the middle layer has been extracted, the micro-fat graft is transferred into 1ml syringes prior to injection into the tissue to be grafted (Figure 8 G, H).



Figure 8. After oil (E) and blood (F) elimination the ADSCs are aspirated by Luer-Lock syringe technique (G); Syringes loaded with stem cells (H).

A multilayer technique is used to implant the aliquots of fat, with very small amounts of fatty tissue released into the recipient area in order to optimize successful implantation of the graft. A blunt Coleman microcannula is used to deposit the micro-fat graft via a number of sub-dermal and hypodermal tunnels through numerous tissue planes (Figure 9).



Figure 9. (A) Margin injection with a suspension of ADSCs. The wound bed preparation is apparent; (B) Islets of adipose cells in the wound bed together with a scaffold of hyaluronic acid; (C) Foam advanced dressing protects the healing area before application of compression.

This technique of minimising the amount of micro-fat graft released each time the cannula is inserted increases the area between the grafted fat and the tissue receiving it. In this way there is a reduction in fat damage and adipocyte necrosis, with an improvement in graft vascularization and three-dimensional fat distribution. The recently grafted fat has a readily available blood supply, which facilitates its survival and reduces the possibility of fat necrosis or calcification [45,87].

3.2. Safety of Coleman's Technique for ADSCs harvesting

The focus of current stem cell harvesting techniques is on bone marrow, umbilical cord blood and peripheral blood. The method for harvesting and fat grafting initially introduced by Coleman [80] yields a higher number of stem cells when compared with these techniques. The stem cells can be used intra-operatively with minor organizational and legal limitations that might otherwise prove expensive for clinical use [45].

ADSCs are also competitive with regard to complications. Zollino et al [45]. undertook a review of the scientific literature to evaluate complications reported in studies on the fat harvesting and grafting process employing Coleman's Procedure for reconstructive surgery purposes. A total of 5089 patients who underwent plastic surgery and maxillo-facial surgical procedures including facial restoration and post mastectomy reconstruction were

selected [88-101]. There were complications reported in 169 cases (3.3% of the overall number). 141 (2.77%) patients were classed as having minor complications, while 28 patients (0.55%) were classed as having major complications. A detailed breakdown of the minor complications recorded revealed: nodularity and/or induration 93 (1.83%), dysaesthesia 14 (0.26 %), hematoma 12 (0.23 %), superficial infection 11 (0.21 %), pain 7 (0.13 %), poor cosmesis 3 (0.06 %) and abnormal breast secretion 1 (0.02 %). The list of major complications recorded revealed: deep infection 22 (0.43 %), sepsis 3 (0.06 %), abdominal hematoma requiring percutaneous surgical drainage 2 (0.04 %) and pneumothorax 1 (0.02 %) (Table 3).

Author	Patient	Complications (%)	
	population		
Burnouf (Reference 88)	33	0	
Hardy (Reference 89)	12	0	
Dollfus (Reference 90)	6	0	
Clauser (Reference 91)	47	0	
Guijarro-Martínez (Reference 92)	4	0	
Claro Jr. (Reference 93)	4601	 nodularity and/or induration (2.02) deep infection (0.41) dysaesthesia (0.30) hematoma (0.26) superficial infection (0.19) pain (0.06) sepsis (0.06) abnormal breast secretion (0.02) pneumothorax (0.02) 	
Guisantes (Reference 94)	8	0	
Seth (Reference 95)	90	 pain (4.4) poor cosmesis (3.3)	
Arcuri (Reference 96)	19	• abdominal hematoma requiring percutaneous surgical drainage at 2 days postoperatively (5.2)	
Weichman (Reference 97)	100	deep infections (1.0)	
Biglioli (Reference 98)	8	0	
Endara (Reference 99)	21	 deep infections (9.5) superficial infection (4.7) hematoma requiring drainage and closure on the day of surgery (4.7) 	
Kaoutzanis (Reference 100)	108	superficial infection (1.0)	
Piombino (Reference 101)	32	0	

Table 3. Complications for harvesting and fat grafting procedures.

In comparison, data recorded on the recovery and safety profiles following bone marrow collection in 9245 donors identified 345 cases (3.7%) with potential complications. In 125 cases (1.35% of the 9245 total) post-harvesting, these complications were classed as serious. Of the 125 serious cases, 116 were classed as being directly related to the collection, namely: mechanical injury to tissue, bone or nerve 69 (0.7%), anesthesia 45 (0.5%), infection 1 (0.01%) and grand mal seizure 1 (0.01%). Among the 116 patients with serious complications, 67 (0.7% of the 9245 total) experienced prolonged recovery times due to mechanical injury to tissue from needle aspirations, and required interventions ranging from limited physician involvement and/or physical therapy to surgical intervention and ongoing disability (1 to 10 years). Among the remaining 49 patients (0.5% of the 9245 total) with severe reactions, most issues were due to severe acute reactions related to anesthesia (complicated post-spinal headaches, cardiac arrhythmia, and pulmonary edema) [102-104].

The use of Coleman's Procedure for ADSCs harvesting therefore seems advantageous when compared with other techniques for stem cell harvesting. It seems a safer option, involving less discomfort and a reduced risk of complications for patients (Figure 10).



COMPLICATIONS

Figure 10. Complications post harvesting (percentages).

3.3. ADSCs in wound healing

As conventional treatment strategies for chronic wounds increasingly reach their limits and often fail, advanced healing therapies are being used to rectify the irregular and dysfunctional cellular pathways which are present in chronic wounds. These treatment strategies include skin substitutes, growth factor-based therapies, biological dressings, and synthetic acellular matrices [105].

Increasing vasculogenesis and angiogenesis is vital to the investigation of pioneering wound healing strategies [106]. Both fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and VEGF are potent angiogenic factors. Increased granulation, decreased contraction, and increased angiogenesis have been demonstrated through the application of FGF to wounds [107]. In addition, KGF and FGF have been clarified in order to activate fibroblast and keratinocyte proliferation and migration, collagen synthesis, and induce angiogenesis [108,109].

Vascularization plays a crucial part in wound healing and is thus a significant parameter for new therapies [110]. For this reason, innovative and alternative treatment options including stem cell-based therapies have been investigated over the last decade [20]. ADSCs offer prodigious potential through their capacity to release angiogenic factors, displaying increased angiogenesis in wound healing whenever injected or delivered via a scaffold [111]. Increased vascular tissue has been observed in models using endothelial cells and fibroblasts have yielded increased vascular tissue. Moreover, ADSCs have displayed improved healing in both burn models and full-thickness wound models [20].

ADSCs have also shown a positive impact on wound healing in clinical and pre-clinical studies, in addition to their angiogenic potential. Recent ADSCs applications *in vitro* and *in vivo* have demonstrated that they are attracted to the wound site and affect regeneration processes by means of paracrine mechanisms in addition to fusion and differentiation, for instance, into keratinocytes or dermal fibroblasts [112-114].

Ongoing clinical trials are using ADSCs for regenerative medical and tissue engineering applications [115,116]. Rigotti et al [117]. used ADSCs to treat patients with severe symptoms or irreversible function damage due to side effects from radiation treatment (LENT-SOMA scale grades 3 and 4). Irradiated areas were treated through the application of purified autologous lipoaspirates. In the majority of patients treated, both ultrastructural tissue regeneration with neovessel formation, and significant clinical improvement were observed.

Promising applications in wound and ulcer healing have been reported, although thus far these are small studies with a total of only 98 patients [12,118-122]. Bartsich and Morrison

[123] have discussed the long-term treatment of chronic sickle cell ulcers and the possible use of a skin graft and fat grafting to achieve healing. Current treatment using skin grafting and local wound care is often unsuccessful over the long-term, as wounds that have healed break down again. Treatment involving enduring modification of the wound bed with enrollment of a new cell population and subsequent fat grafting was satisfactorily applied in Bartsich and Morrison's study. Raposio et al. [12] presented their experience in regenerative surgery of chronic skin ulcers, evaluating the effects related to the use of adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs) added to platelet-rich plasma (PRP), to obtain an enhanced PRP (e-PRP). e-PRP significantly enhanced wound closure rates when compared to standard wound care through a faster recovery and without causing any serious complications. In 2010 Cervelli et al. [118] showed the capability of combining autologous adipose grafts and PRP injected intralesionally or perilesionally to regenerate tissue and induce epithelialization with wound closure in patients with a loss of substance on the lower limb. They reported a significant decrease in healing time (57% of patients achieved complete healing within 3 months) and a noticeable improvement in quality of life, along with a diminution in cost due to the decreased amount of medication required. Their subsequent research [119] suggests a new therapeutic plan: the use of Enhanced Stromal Vascular Fraction (e-SVF). As reported, e-SVF and PRP mixed with fat grafting applied to the bed of ulcers are two treatments that showed improvement in the healing process in post-traumatic extremity ulcers. Results showed that wounds treated with e-SVF healed better than wounds treated with hyaluronic acid alone. After 9.7 weeks, the patients treated with e-SVF experienced a 97.9% \pm 1.5% re-epithelization rate compared to 87.8% \pm 4.4% of the first control group (hyaluronic acid); while patients treated with PRP and Lipostructure after 9.7 weeks experienced a 97.8% ±1.5% re-epithelization rate compared to 89.1%±3.8% of the second control group (PRP). Marino et al. [120] have used purified adipose-derived stem and regenerative cells (ADRCs) obtained from autologous fat for the treatment of chronic lower limb ulcers of arteriopathic patients. In all cases, injections into the edges of the ulcer produced a decrease in both the diameter and depth of the ulcer. There was healing with complete re-epithelization in over half of the cases. In the first phase I trial, Bura et al. [121] have proved that adipose-derived stroma cell (ASC) transplantation greatly increases tissue revascularization, with ulcer evolution and wound healing improvement in non-revascularizable critical limb ischemia patients. Lee et al. [122] have demonstrated that a safe alternative method to achieve therapeutic angiogenesis in patients with critical limb ischemia who are refractory to other treatment modalities

could be the use of multiple intramuscular adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell (ADMSC) injections. The Authors have observed clinical improvement in 66.7% of cases. Their patients have displayed a significant decrease on the pain rating scale and improved claudication walking distance.

WOUND TYPE	CELL TYPE	DELIVERY SYSTEM	OUTCOME	REFERENCE
Chronic venous, diabetic, and ischemic ulcers (n=16 patients)	e-PRP	Injection into skin edge and at the bottom of the lesion	Complete healing in 71% of patients	Raposio et al. (2016) [12]
Non-revascularizable critical limb ischemia with/without ulcers (n=7 patients)	ASCs	Intramuscular injection	Increased trans- cutaneous oxygen pressure, improvement of ulcer evolution and wound healing	Bura et al. (2014) [121]
Chronic ulcers of the lower limbs of artheriopatic patients (n=10 patients)	ADRCs	Injection at the edges of the ulcers	Complete healing in 60% of patients	Marino et al. (2013) [120]
Critical limb ischemia with/without non healing ulcers (n=15 patients)	ADMSCs	Intramuscular injection	Clinical improvement occurred in 66.7% of patients (minor amputation in 5 patients)	Lee et al. (2012) [122]
Post-traumatic lower extremity ulcers (n=20 patients)	e-SVF in 10 patients, AT+PRP in 10 patients	Injection in small tunnels in the perilesional area	Complete healing in 97.9%-97.8% of patients	Cervelli et al. (2011) [119]
Vascular, diabetes- correlated, or post- traumatic diseases with ulcers or loss of substance of the lower limbs (n=30 patients)	AT+PRP	Injection of AT + PRP covered with 3- dimensional polymerized hyaluronic acid - medicated biological dressing	Complete healing in 57% of patients	Cervelli et al. (2010) [118]

Table 4. Summary of the use of cell therapy in ulcer healing.

Key: ADSCs (or ASCs) = Adipose derived stem cells, PRP = Platelet-rich-plasma, e-PRP = ADSCs (or ASCs) + PRP, ASCs = Adipose-derived stroma cells, ADRCs = Purified adipose-derived stem and regenerative cells, ADMSCs = adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells, e-SVF = Enhanced Stromal Vascular Fraction, AT = Adipose tissue, HA = hyaluronic acid.

Moreover, various studies on mouse, rat and rabbit models have provided encouraging evidence of ulcer evolution and wound healing improvement [112,113,124-140]. Likewise, the positive results of ADSCs on wound healing have also been demonstrated using animal models with chronic diseases or artificially induced impaired wound healing. An increase in collagen intensity, capillary density, VEGF and TGF- β 3 expression was displayed as a consequence of ADSCs transfer. Animals with autologous ADSCs transplantation on wounds demonstrated appreciably increased survival, angiogenesis and epithelialisation rates [131]. The ADSCs accelerated wound healing of radiation ulcers in a modified rat model, where they were co-localised with endothelial cell markers in ulcerated tissues. Treatment using ADSCs achieved smaller wound sizes and was linked to development of new blood vessels [141]. Finally, Hong et al [129]. showed in a rabbit ear *in vivo* model that topically delivered rabbit ADSCs are engrafted and proliferate in wounds, where they exhibited an activated fibroblast phenotype. Furthermore, ADSCs led to augmented endothelial cell and macrophage enrollment. In contrast to bone marrow-derived stem cells and fibroblasts they also increased granulation tissue formation.

3.4 Histology of the wound healing process and potential role of ADSCs

The normal wound healing process in vascular ulcerations is usually aborted for a variety of reasons depending on each clinical case. Usually, the first phase of wound healing is the inflammatory phase. Immediately after injury, a hemostatic reaction begins. Blood platelets release growth factors, cytokines, and other survival or apoptosis-inducing agents. Leukocytes release reactive oxygen species (ROS) with antimicrobial and proteases roles. Resolution of the inflammatory phase is accompanied by gradual inflammatory cell apoptosis a few days after the event.

As the inflammatory phase ends, the proliferative phase of repair begins. Wound healing angiogenesis begins immediately after injury and this event stimulates the production of pro-angiogenic factors. In response, endothelial cells degrade basal membrane, migrate into the wound site, proliferate, and form new blood vessels (Figure 11 A, B).

More recently, it has been revealed that endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) are also required for wound revascularization [142,143]. Endothelial progenitor cell mobilization is mediated by nitric oxide, VEGF, and matrix metalloproteinases (MMP9 particularly)

[143,144]; in this phase ADSCs could play a main role secreting bFGF, KGF, TGF- β , HGF and VEGF. Although more research needs to be done to further elucidate the mechanisms of EPC and ADSC recruitment and homing, it is clear that these progenitor cells are necessary for normal wound healing associated neovasculogenesis and injury repair [2,111,145].

Reestablishment of a normal blood supply provides a favourable microenvironment for epidermal and dermal cell migration and proliferation. Fibroblasts proliferate within the wound and synthesize extra-cellular matrix (ECM) forming granulation tissue perfused with newly formed blood vessels. It seems that ADSCs, when applied after wound bed preparation according to the TIME protocol, particularly enhance blood vessel proliferation as well as synthesis of matrix components. In figure 11 C, one week after ADSCs treatment, blood vessel proliferation together with a provisional matrix can easily be seen.



Figure 11. Exemplification of the healing process 2 weeks after implantation. (A) Wound site at 4X, Hematoxylin - Eosin. At this magnification, the acanthosis of epidermidis detached by papillary dermis cohabited by granulation tissue rich in vascular structures and remodelling collagen can be seen. In the lower portion of the dermis, the incipient remodelling reaction is evident; (B) Ulcerated site at 10X, Hematoxylin - Eosin. No epidermidis covers the superficial dermis that is repopulated by granulation tissue rich in neovascular structures and collagen; (C) CD34 immunohistochemistry marks neovascular endothelial cells and underlines the typical wound site morphology during repair time characterized by the presence of granulation tissue and scar formation with fibrosis and loss of adnexae structures in the lower dermis.

We know that such a matrix mainly consisting of collagen III, fibrin, fibronectin, and hyaluronic acid is progressively substituted with ECM mainly containing collagen I. Next, wound contraction and matrix remodelling take place. Finally, apoptosis of fibroblastic cells occurs, leading to the formation of a relatively acellular scar tissue whose tensile strength is comparable with unwounded skin.

3.5. Limitations of using ADSCs

Donor specificity is a recognised phenomenon. Recent studies have investigated ADSCs function within the context of donor age and gender. Donor specificity of human ADSCs has been reported by Shu et al. [146], who observed links between donor age and cell differentiation as well as anti apoptosis ability. Another study with human ADSCs demonstrated that equal amounts of ADSCs could be isolated, regardless of donor age. However, infant-derived cells have shown different morphology and enhanced angiogenic and osteogenic capabilities [147]. Donor age specificity has also been investigated by Guercio et al [148]. and has revealed a higher proliferation capacity of ADSCs in younger dogs compared with older animals.

There is scant evidence thus far regarding the effect of gender on ADSCs potential. Fossett and Khan [149] surmised that females have a notably higher yield of mesenchymal stem cells than males and that oestrogens play an excitatory role in controlling levels of cytokines and growth factor production. Furthermore, the gender of ADSCs donors influenced the proliferation, differentiation, paracrine and anti-apoptosis capacities of human ADSCs [146]. As well as age and gender, body mass index, chronic disease, a western lifestyle and many other features cause donor-specific variations. With progenitor cells, it has been seen that cells harvested from patients with chronic diseases have reduced regenerative potential [150,151].

Another influencing factor in the applicability of ADSCs in chronic wound treatment is the composition of wound fluid, which differs markedly between acute and chronic wounds. In an *in vitro* wound model, wound fluid has been shown to influence ADSCs function inversely. While acute wound fluid has a strong chemotactic impact and stimulates ADSCs proliferation, chronic wound fluid has an inhibiting effect on ADSCs migration and proliferation. Chronic wound fluid strongly induces expression of bFGF, VEGF and MMP9 [152]. Furthermore, the risk of inducing cancer by transplantation of ADSCs has not yet been fully excluded [66].

4. DIAGNOSIS OF ULCER PATHOGENESIS AND SYNCHRONOUS VASCULAR TREATMENTS AND WOUND CARE

Impairment of venous and arterial hemodynamics represents an essential factor in the pathogenesis of CVU. However, other associated medical conditions are reported: obesity, smoking, diabetes, hemolytic anemia and/or iron-deficiency anemia and/or malnutrition, inability to walk, severe cardiac and/or hepatic and/or renal and/or pulmonary insufficiency or chronic administration of cortisones for chronic inflammatory disease and/or auto-immune disease [153,154].

ADSCs grafts in successful CVU outcomes need a significant improvement of the venous function by means of associated and customized case-by-case treatments. All of these treatments aim to improve tissue drainage and perfusion and include: compression [37,40,155-158], intermittent pneumatic compression and other novel pneumatic devices [159,160], superficial venous surgery complemented by drugs [161-163].

Before starting, it is important to obtain a healthy, clean wound bed without devitalized tissue, with increased drainage and around-wound tissue that is not macerated or indurated [53].

Moreover, in addition to wound care and infection, the level of proteinases also needs to be corrected before implantation of ADSCs. There is now substantial evidence in animals and humans that proteases in general, human neutrophil elastase (HNE) and matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-9) in particular, are highly elevated in wounds with delayed healing compared to normally healing wounds [164,165]. In healing wounds, there is a rapid initial increase in protease levels. If healing progresses normally, levels peak at about day three and start to reduce by about day five. In non-healing wounds, not only do proteases reach higher levels than in healing wounds, but they persist, resulting in a highly destructive environment.

The neutrophil-derived protease elastase is also important. This is because it has been found to be the biggest contributor to fibronectin degradation in non-healing wounds and fibronectin degradation products stimulate the release of MMPs [166,167]. Intact fibronectin (which is necessary for cell adhesion and growth factor signalling) is absent in

non-healing wounds, but has been shown to reappear in the wound bed as a wound begins to heal [168].

It appears clear from the above how important it is to include treatments which improve drainage and perfusion, wound care, and proteases management to prepare the tissue for subsequent ADSCs to achieve successful implantation.

5. MOTIVATION AND NOVELTY OF THE RESEARCH

Different technical approaches for ADSCs implantation have been proposed, but a standardized technique verified through parallel clinical-lab investigation is currently lacking. The quality and the therapeutic potency of the stromal vascular fraction (SVF), from which ADSCs are derived, is heavily dependent on how the adipose tissue (AT) is processed, so different methods may produce dramatic differences in the cell composition of SVF and gene expression profile of ADSCs [169]. Moreover, an analytical approach to the study of the immunophenotypic and functional features of SVF is needed. Further studies are therefore required to standardize the technique and diversify the various processes (from collection to implantation) in accordance with the different diseases where cell treatment has been proposed. From this point of view, few studies [12] are currently available on venous leg ulcers (VLU) addressing the questions above.

5.1 Aim of the study

The aim of our study is to preliminarily and randomly evaluate the efficacy and safety of the use of ADSCs in the healing process of VLU, which do not respond to the gold standard treatment, using a reproducible methodological approach verified in parallel with a lab cell characterization.

5.2. Material and Methods

5.2.1. Patient recruitment

From an initial cohort of 38 patients referred to the Vascular Diseases Center of the University of Ferrara, 8 patients (5 men, 3 women) affected by VLU entered the study. Clinical assessment consisted of physical examination, echo-color-Doppler to assess venous etiology, the presence of peripheral artery disease with the measurement of the ankle brachial index (ABI) and evaluation of bottom line wound area. Patients were selected in accordance with the following inclusion criteria: age range 18-90 years old; chronic pure venous and/or mixed VLU refractory to standard treatments in stall for at least 9 months; surface area > 8 cm²; chronic pain refractory to home-based therapy. The

exclusion criteria were: clinical evidence of bacterial infection; peripheral arterial disease with ABI < 0.8; anemia with Hb < 10.0 gr/dl; malnutrition (BMI < 17,5); inability to walk; multi organ failure; malignancy; immunosuppressive or cytotoxic agents. After applying the above criteria, 16 patients were selected and randomized according to a computer generated 1:1 list into two arms, respectively ADSCs treated and Controls. The study protocol was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Sant'Anna, Ferrara, Italy.

5.2.2. Procedures

In the two arms the debridement of ulcers was performed by means of Versajet device (VERSAJETTM, Versajet Hydrosurgery System, Smith and Nephew, Hull, UK) (Figure 12), a debridement tool able to cut and remove necrotic tissue and fibrin based on a high pressure jet of water which produces the Venturi effect [170].



Figure 12. Versajet.

In the experimental arm, the study design contemplated ADSCs harvesting using Coleman's technique [80] as previously described [45,171]. Approximately 20 ml of AT was removed by suction. The samples were sealed and centrifuged at 1300 r/min (rotor size: 16 cm; g force: 580) for 3 minutes. Before transfer into the tissue, the oil and the blood were eliminated and the high-density layer (HDL) [85] micro-fat (approximately 15 ml for each patient) with a high concentration of stem cells was placed into 1 ml syringes

with an 18-gauge needle. Multiple sub-dermal and hypodermal tunnels were designed on the withdrawal phase of the needle; in this way we reduced to small pearls the amount of micro-fat graft released each time with a retrograde motion, minimizing damage to the cells and adipocyte necrosis, improving graft vascularization and three-dimensional graft distribution. The samples were injected at a depth of 1 cm, with care taken to spread them in all directions both into the bed and to the edges of ulcers. After the injection, a scaffold of hyaluronic acid was applied to the wound and an advanced foam dressing was applied to protect the healing area. A sample of 1 cc of lipoaspirate was sent to the Laboratory of Molecular Biology and a punch biopsy (5 mm in diameter) was performed for the histological evaluation.

Both arms, after the procedures, were treated with a multilayer bandage (zinc oxide nonelastic bandage- Lohmann, Rengsdorf, Germany- and hypoallergenic adhesive bandage) applied from the foot to just below the knee. In cases of clinical suspicion of infection, swab cultural examination and antibiogram based antibiotics were prescribed. Patients were advised to walk. Wound dressings and bandaging were applied weekly until healing.

5.2.3. Outcome measures

Ulcers were treated weekly following the TIME criteria [17,53]. The visit included evaluation of adverse events, and of the changes in area size of the lesion. The contour of the ulcer was traced on a transparent dressing and then assessed by means of software that was able to calculate any irregular area (Visitrak Capture, Smith & Nephew, London, UK). If multiple ulcers were present on the same limb their areas were summated. The patients were asked to indicate the intensity of chronic pain using the Numeric Pain Rating Scale (NRS) [172].

Furthermore, photographic images, swab cultures and three punch biopsies (5 mm in diameter) at baseline, week 1 and week 2 after treatment, were performed. Specimens were analyzed by the Laboratory of Molecular Biology and by the Department of Experimental and Diagnostic Medicine, Sant'Anna University Hospital of Ferrara-Italy.

The primary outcomes were: the Safety and the Healing Time expressed in weeks from randomization.

The secondary outcomes were: NRS post treatment to evaluate whether ADSCs treatment could modulate pain [173]; rate of patients reaching complete wound healing at 24 weeks

identified through the Margolis Index (MI = the percentage change in area of an ulcer over the first 4 weeks of treatment represents a practical prognostic indicator and a predictive measure of healing or non-healing at 24 weeks) [174]; the healing process evaluated as a reduction in the initial area per week ($cm^2/week$); Histopathology was also performed through punch biopsy at week 1 and week 2.

5.2.4. Isolation and expansion of autologous ADSCs

Adipose samples were obtained with informed consent and cells were taken as described above [45]. The SVF fraction was separated using a procedure modified from Zuk et al [63,175]. Briefly, various aliquots of 2 ml of AT were digested with 0.075% collagenase in DOM completed medium: Dulbecco's modified Eagle Medium (GIBCO Italy) supplemented with 12,5% bovine serum, 12,5% horse serum, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, 2% glutamine (GIBCO) and vortexed for 2 minutes then at 37°C for 15 minutes. After incubation at 37°C, the cells were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 1200 rpm in order to separate mature adipocytes from the pellet. After centrifugation, the pellet was divided and resuspended in PBS, for FACS analysis of the fresh samples before culture as well as for CFU-F assay. For the *in vitro* expansion, the SVF was plated in 5100 medium (StemCell Technologies Inc., Vancouver, B.C., Canada) at a density of 5.000 cells/cm² in T25 tissue culture flasks (BD BioCoat Collagen I Cellware Flasks; Becton-Dickinson, San Jose', CA, US). The cells were maintained in media until they achieved 75%–90% confluence and than trypsinized for further analysis after expansion.

5.2.5. Multicolour flow cytometric analysis of freshly isolated SVF

Freshly isolated SVF fraction was characterized through a four-color flow cytometric approach. Multiparametric flow cytometric analysis was performed on a FACS Calibur equipped with the four-color option (Becton Dickinson, San Jose, CA, US). In order to optimize the FACS analysis, non-viable cells that had lost membrane integrity were identified by uptake of 7-amino-actinomycin D (7-AAD). 7-AAD was purchased from Molecular Probes (Leiden, The Netherlands) and we used 4ug/ml for each sample. Ten thousand gated events were acquired. Freshly isolated cells from SVF were maintained on ice and incubated simultaneously with different specific monoclonal antibodies in order to quantify and characterize the amount and the type of stem cell cellular content. Different monoclonal antibodies such as: anti-CD34-PercP (cl.8G12), anti-CD45-APC (clone 2D1,

IgG1), anti-CD271, anti- CD271, anti- CD146-PE (cl. P1H12), anti CD31-FITC (clone WM-59, IgG1), anti-CD90 (clone 5E10, IgG1 k, FITC), and MSCA-1 (all from Becton-Dickinson) were used in different combinations. The non-hematopoietic stem cells were analysed in the gate of CD45 med low events. In particular, the percentage of CD45 med low CD34-positive cells was considered as expression of the non-hematopoietic stem cell content in the SVF.

The percentage of the content of SVF-nonhematopoietic stem cell and the type of other cells, including ADSCs, was correlated to the patient follow up. The nonhematopoietic stem cell immunophenotype was analysed by excluding CD45-positive hematopoietic cells and 7-AAD positive non viable cells.

5.2.6. CFU-F assay of SVF

Primary cultures-expanded from SVF were established by plating all the SVF cells derived from 2ml of ADSCs onto BD BioCoat Collagen I Cellware Petri dishes (35mm) (Becton-Dickinson, San Jose', CA, US) in Dexter's type long term culture medium 5100 (StemCell Technologies Inc., Vancouver, B.C., Canada) (M5100). The *in vitro* clonogenic output was evaluated at the 15th day, as the number of fibroblast aggregates that were scored as colony forming unit fibroblasts (CFU-F detection) as described by Castro & Malaspina group [176,177]. Clones of more than 50 cells were considered to be colonies. At the first confluence, SVF derived stromal layers were trypsinized for FACS analysis. The presence of possible endothelial progenitor cells EPC colonies was also scored.

5.2.7. Multilineage potential of SVF

The plasticity of SVF derived cells was assessed after 2/3 culture passages. To promote adipogenic and osteogenic differentiation, the cells were trypsinized and plated in BD BioCoat Collagen I 12 multiwell plates (Becton-Dickinson, San Jose', CA, US) for three weeks respectively in adipogenic and osteogenic commercially available specific media (respectively NHOsteoDiff and NHAdipoDiff media from Miltenyi Biotec). BM-derived MSCs (bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells) were used as a positive control. The lipid droplets in the generated adipocytes were visualized by staining with Sudan Black IV (Sigma). The percentage of adipocytes was estimated by counting 100 cells on 4 random fields (400 total cells counted). The assessment of mineralization areas was

visualized through Von Kossa staining. Osteogenic differentiation was evaluated as a percentage of the mineralized area against the total culture area.

5.2.8. Immunophenotypic analysis of cultured ADSCs-derived SVF fraction

Primary culture-expanded SVF derived adherent cells from patients were studied using flow cytometry. Adherent cells were detached with trypsin /EDTA (GIBCO), suspended in 0.5 ml PBS supplemented with 0,2 % bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma). For the panel of MoAbs used and the cytometric analysis see our previous studies [178-180].

5.2.9. Histology

Microscopic evaluation of routinely hematoxylin-eosin stained paraffin derived sections was performed to evaluate the healing process in both arms.

5.2.10. Statistical analysis

Clinical data were expressed as mean ± standard deviation and tested for significance by the Mann-Whitney U-test depending on variable distribution. The comparison of the outcome measure achievement in the two arms was performed by Fisher's exact test. Cellular expression for the various immune-phenotypic markers in patients was assessed using Mann-Whitney non parametric statistics. The percentage of the different non-hematopoietic stem cell subsets (such as CD34+CD45-, CD34+CD146+/-, CD271+/-CD146+/-, etc..) present in the ADSCs was correlated to patient follow up (see previous paragraph about outcome assessment in particular evaluated as healing time, NRS and MI). p values lower than 0.05 were considered to be significant.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Patients

In Table 5, patient population demographics are given, with no significant differences between the 2 arms after randomization. The etiology of patients' ulcers was chronic pure venous (75%, meaning reflux and or venous obstruction with ABI > 0.8 and no significant comorbidities) and mixed venous (25%, meaning reflux/obstruction coupled with significant comorbidities or ABI < 0.8) with homogeneous distribution between the two arms. The mean ulcer size in the ADSCs group was slightly increased with respect to

controls, although not significantly, as described in Table 5. The chronic pain assessed by NRS before treatment had a mean rating of 7 ± 3 in the study group *vs* 6 ± 3 in the control group.

	ADSCs (N°;%)	CONTROL (N°;%)	Р
AGE (Y)	74 ± 6.7	68 ± 12.8	0.79
GENDER (M/F)	5/3	5/3	1.00
ETIOLOGY	VENOUS 6;75% MIXED 2;25 %	VENOUS 5;62,5% MIXED 3;37,5%	0.50
WOUND SIZE (cm ²)	31.3 ± 59.0	29.0 ± 42.0	0.95
COMORBIDITY AFFECTING HEALING	Hypertension 8;100% Diabetes 2;25 % DVT and PE 1;12,5% Heart failure 2;25%	Hypertension 8;100% Diabetes 3;38 % DVT and PE 1;12,5% Chronic Kidney failure 2;25%	
NRS BEFORE TREATMENT	7.0 ± 3.0	6.6 ± 2.9	0.63

Table 5. Patient population demographics with no significant differences between the 2 arms.

5.3.2. Primary endpoint

We did not record any major adverse events related to the procedure. In one case we registered perilesional dermatitis shortly after the cells were implanted, which spontaneously resolved in the second week.

The primary outcome, mean healing time, was significantly different between the 2 arms: 17.5 ± 7.0 weeks in the experimental group as compared to 24.5 ± 4.9 weeks recorded in the control group (p<0.036) (Table 6).

	ADSCs	CONTROL	Р	95% C.I.
Healing Time (weeks)	17.5 ± 7.6	24.5 ± 4.9	0.036	-
NRS post treatment	2.7 ± 2.3	6.6 ± 2.9	0.01	-
MI +(N°)	4	2	0.60	0.3-24
Healing (N°)	6	4	0.60	
Healing process (cm ² /week)	3.2 ± 8.0	0.2 ± 0.4	0.37	-

 Table 6. Primary and secondary endpoints.

5.3.3. Secondary endpoints

Shortly after the application of ADSCs, NRS dropped after the first week to 2.7 ± 2.3 whereas in the control group it was 6.6 ± 2.9 , (p < 0.01). Conversely, the MI was not significantly different between arms: in the experimental group, 50% of patients obtained the MI + *vs* 25% of the control group (O.R. 3.0; 95% CI 0.3-24; p<0.608).

Finally, complete healing was reached in a higher proportion in both groups, being 6/8 in the ADSCs patients (Figures 13-16) vs 4/8 in the controls with no significant difference between arms (p<0.608). The wound healing process proceeded in the ADSCs group at 3.2 \pm 8.0 cm²/week; not significantly faster with respect to 0.2 \pm 0.4 cm²/week in the control group, yet (p < 0.371) (Table 6).



Figure 13. *Pre-operative mixed venous leg ulcer (A); intraoperative injection of ADSCs by 18 Gauge needle (B); post-operative ulcer after 1 week (C) and after 6 weeks (D); ulcer healed after 8 weeks of treatment (E).*


Figure 14. *Pre-operative pure venous leg ulcer (A); intraoperative injection of ADSCs by 18 Gauge needle (B); post-operative ulcer after 6 weeks (C) and after 10 weeks (D); ulcer healed after 16 weeks of ADSCs treatment (E).*



Figure 15. *Pre-operative venous leg ulcer over the medial malleolus* (*A*) *and over the lateral malleolus* (*B*); *leg ulcers healed after 23 weeks of ADSCs treatment* (*C-D*).



Figure 16. *Pre-operative Martorell's ulcer* (*A*); *intraoperative injection of ADSCs* (*B*); *post-operative leg ulcer after 4 weeks of treatment* (*C*) *and after 8 weeks of treatment* (*D*).

5.3.4. Histopathological results

The healing process induced by ADSCs involves a preliminary stage where the granulation tissue remodels and repairs plastically the ulcer damage, which is in turn re-structured and replaced due to fibroblast intervention, so as to develop the various types of collagen. Type III collagen is subsequently replaced by stronger type I collagen that will form the main component of the end point scar.

Neoangiogenesis appeared earlier in the first week in the cells treated arm, where new blood vessels encircled by endothelial cells were widely apparent in the wound bed at the second week (Figure 17).



Figure 17. (A) (Hematoxylin - Eosin 20x) The wound bed with fibroblasts producing type III collagen at week 1. The matrix consists of a collagen type III network, stained in red, rapidly synthetized following ADSCs implantation. (B) (Hematoxylin - Eosin 10x) Neoangiogenesis becomes well and widely apparent in the wound bed in the second week. Vascular endothelial cells indicated by the arrow form new blood vessels.

5.3.5. Multicolour flow cytometric analysis of freshly isolated SVF

Since AT is a heterogeneous source of multipotent stem cells which are associated with small vessels and are easily recovered by mechanical and enzymatic digestion in an SVF, it becomes necessary to distinguish the possible different stem cell populations by their immunophenotype. Hematopoietic cells and dead cells were excluded from analysis by gating on CD45negative/med low and 7AAD negative events. As reported in Table 7, our first results showed a variable percentage of the CD45 med low fraction (mean percentage: 14,3+/-16 with a range of 1.9-42). By gating on this fraction, a very high number of CD34+/CD45- stem cells was observed (mean of 82.6+/-16) even though a variable percentage of these CD34+ stem cells out of the total cells were observed among patients (range: 52-92). Moreover, the CD34+/CD45- subpopulation in the SVF fraction was differently enriched in CD146 and/or CD271 positive cells (see Table 7 for the percentage of antigen expression and Figure 18 A-E). In particular, the most represented immunophenotypic subsets were the CD34+CD146- cells that could represent supraadventitial adipose stromal cells (SA-ASC that are prevalent in 40% of patients) and the CD271+CD146- cells described as more mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC prevalent in 60% of patients). Pericytes considered as CD34-CD146+CD31-CD90-CD45- were also present with a variable percentage among patients. A very low percentage of CD34+/-CD146+/CD31+ endothelial progenitor cells was found.

ANTIGENS	CD45medlow population	CD34+7AAD-	CD146+7AAD-	271+7AAD-	CD271+146- MSC prog	CD271+CD146+ MSC prog	CD271-CD146+ MSC perivasc	CD34+CD146- SA-ASC	CD34-CD146+ pericytes
% +/-SD									
on P1 GATE	14,3+/-16	18.28+/-17.4	11,36+/-7	13.4+/-23.1	4.9+/-10.3	0.28+/-0.5	0.75+/-1.4	13.8+/-13	2.9+/-4.3
(morphol.) (range)	(1.9-42)	(0.9-45)	(1.8-15.4)	(0.3-54)	(0.2-25.9)	(0-14)	(0-3.6)	(0.5-27)	(0-7.9)
% +/- SD on P2 GATE (CD45- medlow) (range)	100%	82.6+/-16 (52-92)	18+/-12 (9-39)	49.5+/-48 (0-95)	45.1+/-46 (0-92)	4.8+/-5.4 (0-14)	7.2+/-13.7 (0-31)	39+/-28 (8-64)	11.1+/-9.6 (0.2-18)

Table 7. The table shows the immunophenotype of the freshly analyzed cells constituing the SVF fraction as percentage of expression and co-expression of the different surface antigens. The immunophenotype allows us to distinguish the different non-hematopoietic progenitor cell subsets present in the ADSCs. P1= % of cells analysed in the morphological gate SSC vs FSC. P2= % of cells analysed in the CD45 negative/med low. MSC prog = mesenchymal progenitor stromal cells. MSC perivasc = mesenchymal cells with more perivascular immunophenotypical features. SA-ASC = supra-adventitial adipose stromal cells.



Figure 18. Adipose Tissue was treated by enzymatic process and the SVF was analysed by flow cytometry. The non-hemopoietic stem cells were analysed in the gate of CD45 med low events (plot A: green population plot). Most of the CD45 med low green cells expressed the CD34 antigen (plot B: green cells). By gating only on the CD45 med low green cells we analysed the expression of other non-hematopoietic stem cell markers such as CD146 and CD271. As represented in plots C-D-E we identified a variable percentage of some phenotypic subsets such as pericytes. In plots F-G-H the cells that rapidly generated a monolayer with mesenchymal like morphological features are shown.

5.3.6. In vitro expansion of SVF and CFU-F assay

The SVF fraction was successfully expanded *in vitro*. Nevertheless, after dissociation and elimination of mature adipocytes by centrifugation, the stromal vascular fraction remained heterogeneous. Adherent cells generated after SVF expansion were observed after 10-15 days in culture. The cells rapidly generated a monolayer with mesenchymal like morphological features as represented in Figure 18 (F-H). In some samples pericytes, some differentiating adipocytes and endothelial cells could also be observed. After 15 days of culture, the clonogenic potential of the relative SVF derived non-hematopoietic stem cell adherent fraction resulted in a variable number of CFU-F/2ml AT cell colonies with a mean of 16,7+/-7,2 (range 5-25). These colonies grew in culture forming adherent monolayers that were tested for their osteogenic and adipogenic differentiating potential as described for the non-hematopoietic progenitor cells. Since we observed a variable number of CFU-F derived rom 2ml of starting AT, we calculated for each patient the total amount of inoculated progenitor cells that ranged from 50 to 375 CFU-F/15ml of inoculated AT.

5.3.7. Immunophenotypic analysis of cultured ADSCs-derived SVF fraction

Adherent cells generated after SVF expansion were observed after 4-7 days in culture from all patients. The cells rapidly generated an adherent monolayer of cells with fibroblasticlike morphology. At the second passage, cells were analyzed by flow cytometry. These cells were negative for hematopoietic markers and gave a positive result for the different mesenchymal markers such as CD105, CD90, CD73, CD44, CD29, and negative for HLA-DR, CD80 as expected. Variable expression was found for the CD146 marker.

5.3.8. Multilineage potential of SVF

We evaluated both the osteogenic and adipogenic potential of the *in vitro* expanded adherent SVF fraction at the second passage of the culture. Morphological changes of osteogenic differentiation appeared after 3 weeks of culture, since some calcium crystals were clearly visible in culture. Nevertheless, two patients showed a reduced *in vitro* capacity to form a mineralization area. Adipogenic differentiation was also investigated. All patients showed abilities, albeit at differing levels, to give rise to differentiated progeny with accumulated lipid vesicles as revealed by microscopical observations and Sudan black staining. Nevertheless, the differentiation capacity towards osteogenic and adipogenic lineages of SVF derived fraction was reduced compared to the bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BM-derived MSCs) used as a control.

5.3.9. Correlation between the clinical outcomes and cell characterization

In this study we correlated the percentage and the amount of the CD34+/CD45- stem cells, CFU-F and pericytes with the main clinical outcomes, in particular with the healing time, the NRS and the MI.

The plot (Figure 19 A) shows a reverse correlation between the % of CD34+/CD45- and the healing time (r= -0.894, p<0.041): a very significant correlation between % of CD34+/CD45- and NRS (r=-0.934, p<0.020) (Figure 19 B). There was also a positive correlation between the MI and the % of the CD34+ cells (r = 0.94 p < 0.005). Moreover, the *in vitro* expanded non hematopoietic progenitor cells expressed as a N° of CFU-F present an inverted correlation with the healing time (r=-0.868, p<0.057) (Figure 19 C) and a significant correlation with NRS (r=-0.883, p<0.047) (Figure 19 D). The relationship between the MI and % of CFU-F is significantly associated (r=0.97 p < 0.002), as is also the correlation between MI with the total number of calculated CFU-F reinfused (r=0.98 p

< 0.002). Finally, the number of pericytes described as the % of CD146+/CD271-CD45low cells did not correlate significantly with the healing time (r=-0.743, p<0.150) or with the NRS (r=-0.692, p<0.195). On the contrary the relationship with the MI (r = 0.98 p < 0.002) was significantly associated. The MI also correlated with the % of the SA-ASC (r = 0.99 p < 0.002) defined as CD34+CD146-CD45 low cells, presenting a positive correlation.



Figure 19. The number of CD34+/CD45- (%MSC) correlates significantly with healing time (A) and NRS (B). The number of CFU-F demonstrates an inverse correlation with healing time (C) and NRS (D).

5.4. Discussion

For many years, subcutaneous AT has been used for plastic and aesthetic surgery indications such as lipofilling and breast augmentation [181,182]. After the identification of a conspicuous proportion of ADSCs in AT, the potential use of fat in regenerative medicine was proposed [183]. However, the mechanism of action, the technique of application, the safety and the clinical effects had never been tested in a clinical trial regarding VLU.

The primary outcome of our trial is a significant reduction in healing time in the treated arm, as well as a confirmation of the safety of ADSCs in the clinical setting. The study of Cervelli et al. [119], albeit in the less challenging field of post traumatic wounds, confirmed our primary outcome, and demonstrated the ability of stem cell therapy to regenerate tissue up to epithelialization. Furthermore, no major adverse events were recorded in our trial, confirming the safety of the ADSCs approach.

The main finding of our study is the significant reduction in healing time observed in the treated arm. The added value of the study was the meaningful and blind cell characterization in the lab setting performed on the same lipo-aspirates used in the surgical procedure. The synchronous lab cell characterization enabled us to understand what the biological determinants of successful cell treatment are. Endothelial progenitor cells expressed by the % of CD34+/CD45- showed a strong and significant correlation with healing time, confirming how the vascular component of the mesenchymal stem cells play a pivotal role in modulating the healing process [184,185]. Although MI was not significantly different in the reduced sample size of our trial, the correlation found between CD34+/CD45-, even with this clinical parameter, tells us how endothelial progenitor cells work from the beginning in order to favor the healing process, as was also clearly shown by histology (Figure 2).

A very important secondary endpoint demonstrated by our explorative study was the significant reduction of pain, with improvement of NRS shortly after the application of the cell treatment. We know that VLU is a condition leading to low quality of life, mainly due to chronic pain [186-188]. This finding is extremely relevant because VLU patients are outpatients, and it is very difficult to control pain at home. Again, the translational nature of our research allow us to understand how the prediction of such a desired outcome depends respectively on CD34+/CD45- and CFU-F. Speculatively we hypothesize that the stem cells treatment completely changes the cytokine cascade in the wound bed, thereby acting as an anti-inflammatory local treatment [189,190].

The establishment of ADSCs strategies required meticulous preparation of all steps of the tissue engineering process: the collection of a cell source, scaffold biomaterial and native microenvironment to contribute to cell growth [45,191]. However, successful ADSCs therapy requires compliance with the defined principles of VLU management including debridement, infection control and compression [^{40,45,155-158,171,191}]. The latter were perfectly respected in both arms in order to evaluate the effects of cell treatment.

Few studies have analyzed all the different cellular components of the SVF. In the present study by the means of a multicolor flow cytometric strategy, we demonstrated the presence of a variable number of CD34+ cells in the uncultured fresh SVF component, and

according to Zimmerlin et al. [192] we also observed that the SA-ASC component as well as the pericytes are the most represented stem cell populations in the SVF of our patients. In particular, the percentage of CD34 + in the non-hematopoietic fraction gave higher than expected results, being an average of 82% in the samples (range 52-92%).

Our observations are in agreement with some other studies on whole AT revealing that stem cell components organized around small vessels are dominated by a prevalent supraadventitial (SA) layer of CD34+ MSC-like multi-potentiality [63]. However, the ISCT considers both CD34+ and CD34- as ADSCs [193] These SA-ASC components surround arterioles and venules, which are colonized on their surfaces by CD146+ perivascular cells or pericytes [194]. A CD34+/CD31+ endothelial component associated with the luminal layer could be also be present. In particular, as expected for AT, our results showed a variable percentage of CD34+/CD45- non-hematopoietic stem cells among patients; we also showed that the CD34 positive population was differently enriched in CD146 and/or CD271 positive cells. In particular, 40% of patients showed a prevalent SA-ASC subpopulation since the cells resulted in being CD34+CD146-CD31-CD90+/- while the CD34+ subset of CD146+ pericytes was also present. A very low percentage of endothelial progenitor cells was observed, while it was possible to score a different level of CD45+ "contaminating" hemopoietic cells in the starting SVF that was excluded from analysis. After in vitro expansion, the ADSCs lose the CD34 expression and display a typical mesenchymal cell immunophenotype as described by other Authors [195].

Concerning the nature and the quality of the the ADSCs isolated from patient's and *in vitro* expanded in this work, we observed that the cellular SVF content is enriched in clonogenic progenitors since we observed the *in vitro* presence of a variable number of CFU-F. Related to the plastic potential of the CFU-F, we observed a normal adipogenic capacity with a reduced differentiation potential (it results not so significant, statistically speaking) compared to bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs), especially towards osteogenic lineage.

Based on our preliminary positive results we have also provided evidence that Coleman's procedure seems safe, minimally invasive and well tolerated by patients because there were no related serious complications or side effects. Moreover, the technique is easy to perform, highly reproducible and inexpensive [45,171]. Since SVF from AT by enzymatic or through mechanical dissociation is considered to be "more than minimal manipulation"

[196] and since the quality and the therapeutic potency of SVF is heavily dependent on how the AT is processed, according to our results, Ibatici et al. [197] observed that centrifugation does not impair cell viability, can augment the content of ADSCs and the frequency of CFU-F and reduce the number of pro-inflammatory blood cells.

Finally, we recognize that the major limitation of our study is the sample size. An underpowered may expose to type I error. A second limitation of our study is the lack of a double-blind, sham controlled study design.

5.5. Conclusion

The aim of our study was to explore the effects of cell treatment in non-healing VLU, possibly correlating the clinical findings with lab cell characterization. The correlations found with the lab analysis allow us to hypothesize that healing time or pain reduction could both be candidate primary outcomes to be explored in a further multi-center, double-blind, sham controlled clinical trial.

List of abbreviations

ADSCs Adipose derived stem cells

PDGF Platelet-derived growth factor

bFGF Basic fibroblast growth factor

VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor

TGF-A1 and TGF-2 Transforming growth factors-A1 and 2

ROS Reactive oxygen species

MMP9 Matrix metalloproteinase

ECM Extra-cellular matrix

IGF Insulin-like growth factor

SDF Stromal cell-derived factor

MMPs Matrix metalloproteinases

TNF Tumour necrosis factor

HGF Hepatocyte growth factor

TGF-\beta Transforming growth factor-beta

TNF- α Tumor necrosis factor-alpha

 $GSK-3\beta/Fyn/Nrf2$ Glycogen synthase kinase-3 β/Fyn kinase/Nuclear factor erythroid 2-

related factor 2

CVD Chronic venous disease

CVU Chronic venous leg ulceration

TIME protocol tissue, infection, moisture, environment protocol

PGA Polyglycolic acid

HA Hyaluronic acid

KGF Keratinocyte growth factor

FGF Fibroblast growth factor

ASCs adipose-derived stem cells

PRP platelet-rich-plasma

e-PRP enhanced PRP

e-SVF Enhanced Stromal Vascular Fraction

ADRCs Purified adipose derived stem and regenerative cells

ASC adipose-derived stroma cell

ADMSC adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell

EPCs endothelial progenitor cells

HNE human neutrophil elastase

SVF Stromal vascular fraction

AT Adipose tissue

VLU Venous leg ulcers

ABI Ankle brachial index

HDL High-density layer

NRS Numeric Pain Rating Scale

MI Margolis Index

7-AAD 7-amino-actinomycin D

CFU-F colony forming unit fibroblasts

BM-derived MSCs bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells

SA-ASC supra-adventitial adipose stromal cells

SA supra-adventitial

REFERENCES

- Yolanda MM, Maria AV, Amaia FG, Marcos PB, Silvia PL, Dolores E, Jesùs OH (2014) Adult Stem Cell Therapy in Chronic Wound Healing. J Stem Cell Res Ther 4:1
- 2. Fromm-Dornieden C, Koenen P (2013) Adipose-derived stem cells in wound healing: recent results in vitro and in vivo. OA Molecular & Cell Biology 20-1 (1):8
- 3. Phillips TJ (2001) Current approaches to venous ulcers and compression. Dermatol Surg 27 (7):611-621
- 4. Reiber GE, Boyko EJ, Smith DG (1995) Lower extremity foot ulcers and amputations in diabetes. Diabetes in America, 2nd edn. U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D. C. First published
- 5. Eisenbud D, Huang NF, Luke S, Silberklang M (2004) Skin substitutes and wound healing: current status and challenges. Wounds 16:16
- 6. Woo K, Ayello EA, Sibbald RG (2007) The edge effect: current therapeutic options to advance the wound edge. Adv Skin Wound Care 20 (2):99-117; quiz 118-119
- 7. Stojadinovic A, Carlson JW, Schultz GS, Davis TA, Elster EA (2008) Topical advances in wound care. Gynecol Oncol 111 (2 Suppl):S70-80. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2008.07.042
- Attinger CE, Janis JE, Steinberg J, Schwartz J, Al-Attar A, Couch K (2006) Clinical approach to wounds: debridement and wound bed preparation including the use of dressings and wound-healing adjuvants. Plast Reconstr Surg 117 (7 Suppl):72S-109S. doi:10.1097/01.prs.0000225470.42514.8f
- Demidova-Rice TN, Salomatina EV, Yaroslavsky AN, Herman IM, Hamblin MR (2007) Low-level light stimulates excisional wound healing in mice. Lasers Surg Med 39 (9):706-715. doi:10.1002/lsm.20549
- Lauritano D, Palmieri A, Vinci R, Azzi L, Taglabue A, Carinci F (2014) Adipose derived stem cells: basic science fundaments and clinical application. An update. Minerva Stomatol 63 (7-8):273-281
- 11. Coelho MB, Cabral JM, Karp JM (2012) Intraoperative stem cell therapy. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 14:325-349. doi:10.1146/annurev-bioeng-071811-150041
- Raposio E, Bertozzi N, Bonomini S, Bernuzzi G, Formentini A, Grignaffini E, Pio Grieco M (2016) Adipose-derived Stem Cells Added to Platelet-rich Plasma for Chronic Skin Ulcer Therapy. Wounds 28 (4):6

- Mizuno H, Nambu M (2011) Adipose-derived stem cells for skin regeneration. Methods Mol Biol 702:453-459. doi:10.1007/978-1-61737-960-4_33
- Uysal CA, Tobita M, Hyakusoku H, Mizuno H (2014) The Effect of Bone-Marrow-Derived Stem Cells and Adipose-Derived Stem Cells on Wound Contraction and Epithelization. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) 3 (6):405-413. doi:10.1089/wound.2014.0539
- 15. Frykberg RG, Banks J (2015) Challenges in the Treatment of Chronic Wounds. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) 4 (9):560-582. doi:10.1089/wound.2015.0635
- 16. Falanga V (2005) Wound healing and its impairment in the diabetic foot. Lancet 366 (9498):1736-1743. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67700-8
- Schultz GS, Sibbald RG, Falanga V, Ayello EA, Dowsett C, Harding K, Romanelli M, Stacey MC, Teot L, Vanscheidt W (2003) Wound bed preparation: a systematic approach to wound management. Wound Repair Regen 11 Suppl 1:S1-28
- Demidova-Rice TN, Hamblin MR, Herman IM (2012) Acute and impaired wound healing: pathophysiology and current methods for drug delivery, part 1: normal and chronic wounds: biology, causes, and approaches to care. Adv Skin Wound Care 25 (7):304-314. doi:10.1097/01.ASW.0000416006.55218.d0
- Lazarus GS, Cooper DM, Knighton DR, Percoraro RE, Rodeheaver G, Robson MC (1994) Definitions and guidelines for assessment of wounds and evaluation of healing. Wound Repair Regen 2 (3):165-170. doi:10.1046/j.1524-475X.1994.20305.x
- 20. Cherubino M, Rubin JP, Miljkovic N, Kelmendi-Doko A, Marra KG (2011) Adipose-derived stem cells for wound healing applications. Ann Plast Surg 66 (2):210-215. doi:10.1097/SAP.0b013e3181e6d06c
- Robertson L, Lee AJ, Gallagher K, Carmichael SJ, Evans CJ, McKinstry BH, Fraser SC, Allan PL, Weller D, Ruckley CV, Fowkes FG (2009) Risk factors for chronic ulceration in patients with varicose veins: a case control study. J Vasc Surg 49 (6):1490-1498. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2009.02.237
- 22. Amato B, Coretti G, Compagna R, Amato M, Buffone G, Gigliotti D, Grande R, Serra R, de Franciscis S (2015) Role of matrix metalloproteinases in non-healing venous ulcers. Int Wound J 12 (6):641-645. doi:10.1111/iwj.12181
- 23. McCarty SM, Percival SL (2013) Proteases and Delayed Wound Healing. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle) 2 (8):438-447. doi:10.1089/wound.2012.0370
- 24. Schreml S, Szeimies RM, Prantl L, Karrer S, Landthaler M, Babilas P (2010) Oxygen in acute and chronic wound healing. Br J Dermatol 163 (2):257-268. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2010.09804

- 25. Bourguignon LY (2014) Matrix hyaluronan-activated CD44 signaling promotes keratinocyte activities and improves abnormal epidermal functions. Am J Pathol 184 (7):1912-1919. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.03.010
- Cook H, Davies KJ, Harding KG, Thomas DW (2000) Defective extracellular matrix reorganization by chronic wound fibroblasts is associated with alterations in TIMP-1, TIMP-2, and MMP-2 activity. J Invest Dermatol 115 (2):225-233. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1747.2000.00044
- 27. Telgenhoff D, Shroot B (2005) Cellular senescence mechanisms in chronic wound healing. Cell Death Differ 12 (7):695-698. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4401632
- Wall IB, Moseley R, Baird DM, Kipling D, Giles P, Laffafian I, Price PE, Thomas DW, Stephens P (2008) Fibroblast dysfunction is a key factor in the non-healing of chronic venous leg ulcers. J Invest Dermatol 128 (10):2526-2540. doi:10.1038/jid.2008.114
- 29. Bitar MS (2012) The GSK-3beta/Fyn/Nrf2 pathway in fibroblasts and wounds of type 2 diabetes: On the road to an evidence-based therapy of non-healing wounds. Adipocyte 1 (3):161-163. doi:10.4161/adip.20235
- 30. Goldman MP, Weiss RA, Bergan JJ (1994) Diagnosis and treatment of varicose veins. A review. Dermatology 31:393-413
- 31. Robertson LA, Evans CJ, Lee AJ, Allan PL, Ruckley CV, Fowkes FG (2014) Incidence and risk factors for venous reflux in the general population: Edinburgh Vein Study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 48:208-214
- 32. Zamboni P, Gemmati D (2007) Clinical implications of gene polymorphisms in venous leg ulcer: a model in tissue injury and reparative process. Thromb Haemost 98:131-137
- 33. Shami SK, Sarin S, Cheatle TR, Scurr JH, Smith PD (1993) Venous ulcers and the superficial venous system. J Vasc Surg 17 (3):487-490
- 34. Eberth-Willershausen W, Marshall M (1984) Prevalence, risk factors and complications of peripheral venous diseases in the Munich population. Hautarzt 35:68-77
- 35. Raffetto JD, Mendez MV, Phillips TJ, Park HY, Menzoian JO (1999) The effect of passage number on fibroblast cellular senescence in patients with chronic venous insufficiency with and without ulcer. Am J Surg 178 (2):107-112
- 36. Raffetto JD, Mendez MV, Marien BJ, Byers HR, Phillips TJ, Park HY, Menzoian JO (2001) Changes in cellular motility and cytoskeletal actin in fibroblasts from patients with chronic venous insufficiency and in neonatal fibroblasts in the presence of chronic wound fluid. J Vasc Surg 33 (6):1233-1241

- 37. Zamboni P, Cisno C, Marchetti F, Mazza P, Fogato L, Carandina S, De Palma M, Liboni A (2003) Minimally invasive surgical management of primary venous ulcers vs. compression treatment: a long term randomized study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 25 (4):313-318
- Gemmati D, Tognazzo S, Catozzi L, Federici F, De Palma M, Gianesini S, Scapoli GL, De Mattei M, Liboni A, Zamboni P (2006) Influence of gene polymorphisms in ulcer healing process after superficial venous surgery. J Vasc Surg 44 (3):554-562
- 39. Barwell JR, Davies CE, Deacon J, Harvey K, Minor J, Sassano A, Taylor M, Usher J, Wakely C, Earnshaw JJ, Heather BP, Mitchell DC, Whyman MR, Poskitt KR (2004) Comparison of surgery and compression with compression alone in chronic venous ulceration (ESCHAR study): randomised controlled trial. Lancet 363 (9424):1854-1859
- Nelson EA, Bell-Syer SE (2014) Compression for preventing recurrence of venous ulcers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 9; (9):CD002303. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002303
- 41. Mauck KF, Asi N, Elraiyah TA, Undavalli C, Nabhan M, Altayar O, Sonbol MB, Prokop LJ, Murad MH (2014) Comparative systematic review and meta-analysis of compression modalities for the promotion of venous ulcer healing and reducing ulcer recurrence. J Vasc Surg 60 (2 Suppl):71S-90S.e1-2. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2014.04.060
- 42. Raffetto JD (2014) Which dressings reduce inflammation and improve venous leg ulcer healing. Phlebology 29:157-164
- 43. Thomas CA, Holdstock JM, Harrison CC, Price BA, Whiteley MS (2013) Healing rates following venous surgery for chronic venous leg ulcers in an independent specialist vein unit. Phlebology 28 (3):132-139
- 44. Gethin G, Cowman S, Kolbach DN (2015) Debridement for venous leg ulcers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev Sep 14; 9:CD008599.
- 45. Zollino I, Zuolo M, Gianesini S, Pedriali M, Sibilla MG, Tessari M, Carinci F, Occhionorelli S, Zamboni P (2017) Autologous adipose-derived stem cells: Basic science, technique, and rationale for application in ulcer and wound healing. Phlebology 32 (3):160-171. doi: 10.1177/0268355516641546.
- 46. Watt FM, Hogan BL (2000) Out of Eden: stem cells and their niches. Science 287 (5457):1427-1430
- 47. Weissman IL (2000) Stem cells: units of development, units of regeneration, and units in evolution. Cell 100 (1):157-168
- 48. Caplan AI (1991) Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 9 (5):641-650. doi:10.1002/jor.1100090504

- 49. Friedenstein AJ (1980) Stromal mechanisms of bone marrow: cloning in vitro and retransplantation in vivo. Haematol Blood Transfus 25:19-29
- 50. Jin HJ, Bae YK, Kim M, Kwon SJ, Jeon HB, Choi SJ, Kim SW, Yang YS, Oh W, Chang JW (2013) Comparative analysis of human mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, adipose tissue, and umbilical cord blood as sources of cell therapy. Int J Mol Sci 14 (9):17986-18001. doi:10.3390/ijms140917986
- 51. Kim M, Kim I, Lee SK, Bang SI, Lim SY (2011) Clinical trial of autologous differentiated adipocytes from stem cells derived from human adipose tissue. Dermatol Surg 37 (6):750-759. doi:10.1111/j.1524-4725.2011.01765
- 52. You HJ, Han SK (2014) Cell therapy for wound healing. J Korean Med Sci 29 (3):311-319. doi:10.3346/jkms.2014.29.3.311
- Ayello EA, Dowsett C, Schultz GS, Sibbald RG, Falanga V, Harding K, Romanelli M, Stacey M, L TE, Vanscheidt W (2004) TIME heals all wounds. Nursing 34 (4):36-41
- 54. Croisier F, Jerome C (2013) Chitosan-based biomaterials for tissue engineering. Eur Polym J 49:13
- 55. Messina A, Bortolotto SK, Cassell OC, Kelly J, Abberton KM, Morrison WA (2005) Generation of a vascularized organoid using skeletal muscle as the inductive source. FASEB J 19 (11):1570-1572. doi:10.1096/fj.04-3241fje
- 56. Zavan B, Vindigni V, Vezzu K, Zorzato G, Luni C, Abatangelo G, Elvassore N, Cortivo R (2009) Hyaluronan based porous nano-particles enriched with growth factors for the treatment of ulcers: a placebo-controlled study. J Mater Sci Mater Med 20 (1):235-247. doi:10.1007/s10856-008-3566-3
- 57. Pandis L, Zavan B, Abatangelo G, Lepidi S, Cortivo R, Vindigni V (2010) Hyaluronan-based scaffold for in vivo regeneration of the rat vena cava: Preliminary results in an animal model. J Biomed Mater Res A 93 (4):1289-1296. doi:10.1002/jbm.a.32626
- 58. Altman AM, Yan Y, Matthias N, Bai X, Rios C, Mathur AB, Song YH, Alt EU (2009) IFATS collection: Human adipose-derived stem cells seeded on a silk fibroinchitosan scaffold enhance wound repair in a murine soft tissue injury model. Stem Cells 27 (1):250-258. doi:10.1634/stemcells.2008-0178
- 59. Wong VW, Levi B, Rajadas J, Longaker MT, Gurtner GC (2012) Stem cell niches for skin regeneration. Int J Biomater 2012:926059. doi:10.1155/2012/926059
- 60. Tocco I, Zavan B, Bassetto F, Vindigni V (2012) Nanotechnology-Based Therapies for SkinWound Regeneration. Journal of Nanomaterials:11

- 61. Yoshimura K, Suga H, Eto H (2009) Adipose-derived stem/progenitor cells: roles in adipose tissue remodeling and potential use for soft tissue augmentation. Regen Med 4 (2):265-273. doi:10.2217/17460751.4.2.265
- 62. Suga H, Matsumoto D, Inoue K, Shigeura T, Eto H, Aoi N, Kato H, Abe H, Yoshimura K (2008) Numerical measurement of viable and nonviable adipocytes and other cellular components in aspirated fat tissue. Plast Reconstr Surg 122 (1):103-114. doi:10.1097/PRS.0b013e31817742ed
- 63. Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, Benhaim P, Lorenz HP, Hedrick MH (2001) Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng 7 (2):211-228. doi:10.1089/107632701300062859
- Baglioni S, Francalanci M, Squecco R, Lombardi A, Cantini G, Angeli R, Gelmini S, Guasti D, Benvenuti S, Annunziato F, Bani D, Liotta F, Francini F, Perigli G, Serio M, Luconi M (2009) Characterization of human adult stem-cell populations isolated from visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue. FASEB J 23 (10):3494-3505. doi:10.1096/fj.08-126946
- 65. Pu LL, Coleman SR, Cui X, Ferguson RE, Jr., Vasconez HC (2008) Autologous fat grafts harvested and refined by the Coleman technique: a comparative study. Plast Reconstr Surg 122 (3):932-937. doi:10.1097/PRS.0b013e3181811ff0
- 66. Kim WS, Park BS, Sung JH (2009) The wound-healing and antioxidant effects of adipose-derived stem cells. Expert Opin Biol Ther 9 (7):879-887. doi:10.1517/14712590903039684
- 67. De Ugarte DA, Morizono K, Elbarbary A, Alfonso Z, Zuk PA, Zhu M, Dragoo JL, Ashjian P, Thomas B, Benhaim P, Chen I, Fraser J, Hedrick MH (2003) Comparison of multi-lineage cells from human adipose tissue and bone marrow. Cells Tissues Organs 174 (3):101-109. doi:71150
- 68. Sensebe L, Bourin P (2009) Mesenchymal stem cells for therapeutic purposes. Transplantation 87 (9 Suppl):S49-53. doi:10.1097/TP.0b013e3181a28635
- 69. Bunnell BA, Flaat M, Gagliardi C, Patel B, Ripoll C (2008) Adipose-derived stem cells: isolation, expansion and differentiation. Methods 45 (2):115-120. doi:10.1016/j.ymeth.2008.03.006
- Gnanasegaran N, Govindasamy V, Musa S, Kasim NH (2014) Different isolation methods alter the gene expression profiling of adipose derived stem cells. Int J Med Sci 11 (4):391-403. doi:10.7150/ijms.7697
- 71. Markarian CF, Frey GZ, Silveira MD, Chem EM, Milani AR, Ely PB, Horn AP, Nardi NB, Camassola M (2014) Isolation of adipose-derived stem cells: a comparison among different methods. Biotechnol Lett 36 (4):693-702. doi:10.1007/s10529-013-1425-x

- 72. Zhu M, Heydarkhan-Hagvall S, Hedrick M, Benhaim P, Zuk P (2013) Manual isolation of adipose-derived stem cells from human lipoaspirates. J Vis Exp (79):e50585. doi:10.3791/50585
- 73. Gronthos S, Zannettino AC (2011) Methods for the purification and characterization of human adipose-derived stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 702:109-120. doi:10.1007/978-1-61737-960-4_9
- 74. Rose JG, Jr., Lucarelli MJ, Lemke BN, Dortzbach RK, Boxrud CA, Obagi S, Patel S (2006) Histologic comparison of autologous fat processing methods. Ophthal Plast Reconstr Surg 22 (3):195-200. doi:10.1097/01.iop.0000217710.09941.10
- 75. Conde-Green A, de Amorim NF, Pitanguy I (2010) Influence of decantation, washing and centrifugation on adipocyte and mesenchymal stem cell content of aspirated adipose tissue: a comparative study. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 63 (8):1375-1381. doi:10.1016/j.bjps.2009.07.018
- 76. Pulsfort AK, Wolter TP, Pallua N (2011) The effect of centrifugal forces on viability of adipocytes in centrifuged lipoaspirates. Ann Plast Surg 66 (3):292-295. doi:10.1097/SAP.0b013e3181c7140e
- 77. Conde-Green A, Baptista LS, de Amorin NF, de Oliveira ED, da Silva KR, Pedrosa Cda S, Borojevic R, Pitanguy I (2010) Effects of centrifugation on cell composition and viability of aspirated adipose tissue processed for transplantation. Aesthet Surg J 30 (2):249-255. doi:10.1177/1090820X10369512
- 78. Reshak AH, Shahimin MM, Buang F (2013) Comparative study on human and bovine AT-SC isolation methods. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 113 (2):295-298. doi:10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2013.09.001
- 79. Arana M, Mazo M, Aranda P, Pelacho B, Prosper F (2013) Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells: isolation, expansion, and characterization. Methods Mol Biol 1036:47-61. doi:10.1007/978-1-62703-511-8_4
- 80. Coleman SR (1995) Long-term survival of fat transplants: controlled demonstrations. Aesthetic Plast Surg 19 (5):421-425
- 81. Bucky LP, Kanchwala SK (2007) The role of autologous fat and alternative fillers in the aging face. Plast Reconstr Surg 120 (6 Suppl):89S-97S. doi:10.1097/01.prs.0000248866.57638.40
- Moseley TA, Zhu M, Hedrick MH (2006) Adipose-derived stem and progenitor cells as fillers in plastic and reconstructive surgery. Plast Reconstr Surg 118 (3 Suppl):121S-128S. doi:10.1097/01.prs.0000234609.74811.2e
- 83. Hunstad JP (1995) Tumescent and syringe liposculpture: a logical partnership. Aesthetic Plast Surg 19 (4):321-333

- 84. Mojallal A, Auxenfans C, Lequeux C, Braye F, Damour O (2008) Influence of negative pressure when harvesting adipose tissue on cell yield of the stromal-vascular fraction. Biomed Mater Eng 18 (4-5):193-197
- Clauser L, Ferroni L, Gardin C, Tieghi R, Galie M, Elia G, Piattelli A, Pinton P, Bressan E, Zavan B (2014) Selective augmentation of stem cell populations in structural fat grafts for maxillofacial surgery. PLoS One 9 (11):e110796. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0110796
- 86. Gardin C, Bressan E, Ferroni L, Nalesso E, Vindigni V, Stellini E, Pinton P, Sivolella S, Zavan B (2012) In vitro concurrent endothelial and osteogenic commitment of adipose-derived stem cells and their genomical analyses through comparative genomic hybridization array: novel strategies to increase the successful engraftment of tissue-engineered bone grafts. Stem Cells Dev 21 (5):767-777. doi:10.1089/scd.2011.0147
- 87. Coleman SR (2004) Structural fat grafting. Quality Medical Publishing, Inc, St Louis
- 88. Burnouf M, Buffet M, Schwarzinger M, Roman P, Bui P, Prevot M, Deleuze J, Morini JP, Franck N, Gorin I, Dupin N (2005) Evaluation of Coleman lipostructure for treatment of facial lipoatrophy in patients with human immunodeficiency virus and parameters associated with the efficiency of this technique. Arch Dermatol 141 (10):1220-1224. doi:10.1001/archderm.141.10.1220
- Hardy TG, Joshi N, Kelly MH (2007) Orbital volume augmentation with autologous micro-fat grafts. Ophthal Plast Reconstr Surg 23 (6):445-449. doi:10.1097/IOP.0b013e31815928f8
- 90. Dollfus C, Blanche S, Trocme N, Funck-Brentano I, Bonnet F, Levan P (2009) Correction of facial lipoatrophy using autologous fat transplants in HIV-infected adolescents. HIV Med 10 (5):263-268. doi:10.1111/j.1468-1293.2008.00682
- 91. Clauser LC, Tieghi R, Galie M, Carinci F (2011) Structural fat grafting: facial volumetric restoration in complex reconstructive surgery. J Craniofac Surg 22 (5):1695-1701. doi:10.1097/SCS.0b013e31822e5d5e
- 92. Guijarro-Martinez R, Miragall Alba L, Marques Mateo M, Puche Torres M, Pascual Gil JV (2011) Autologous fat transfer to the cranio-maxillofacial region: updates and controversies. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 39 (5):359-363. doi:10.1016/j.jcms.2010.07.004
- 93. Claro F, Jr., Figueiredo JC, Zampar AG, Pinto-Neto AM (2012) Applicability and safety of autologous fat for reconstruction of the breast. Br J Surg 99 (6):768-780. doi:10.1002/bjs.8722
- 94. Guisantes E, Fontdevila J, Rodriguez G (2012) Autologous fat grafting for correction of unaesthetic scars. Ann Plast Surg 69 (5):550-554.

doi:10.1097/SAP.0b013e31821ee386

- 95. Seth AK, Hirsch EM, Kim JY, Fine NA (2012) Long-term outcomes following fat grafting in prosthetic breast reconstruction: a comparative analysis. Plast Reconstr Surg 130 (5):984-990. doi:10.1097/PRS.0b013e318267d34d
- 96. Arcuri F, Brucoli M, Baragiotta N, Stellin L, Giarda M, Benech A (2013) The role of fat grafting in the treatment of posttraumatic maxillofacial deformities. Craniomaxillofac Trauma Reconstr 6 (2):121-126. doi:10.1055/s-0033-1333877
- 97. Weichman KE, Broer PN, Tanna N, Wilson SC, Allan A, Levine JP, Ahn C, Choi M, Karp NS, Allen R (2013) The role of autologous fat grafting in secondary microsurgical breast reconstruction. Ann Plast Surg 71 (1):24-30. doi:10.1097/SAP.0b013e3182920ad0
- Biglioli F, Allevi F, Battista VM, Colombo V, Pedrazzoli M, Rabbiosi D (2014) Lipofilling of the atrophied lip in facial palsy patients. Minerva Stomatol 63 (3):69-75
- 99. Endara MR, Allred LJ, Han KD, Baker SB (2014) Applications of fat grafting in facial aesthetic skeletal surgery. Aesthet Surg J 34 (3):363-373. doi:10.1177/1090820X14525964
- 100. Kaoutzanis C, Xin M, Ballard TN, Welch KB, Momoh AO, Kozlow JH, Brown DL, Cederna PS, Wilkins EG (2016) Autologous Fat Grafting After Breast Reconstruction in Postmastectomy Patients: Complications, Biopsy Rates, and Locoregional Cancer Recurrence Rates. Ann Plast Surg 76 (3):270-275. doi:10.1097/SAP.00000000000561
- 101. Piombino P, Marenzi G, Dell'Aversana Orabona G, Califano L, Sammartino G (2015) Autologous fat grafting in facial volumetric restoration. J Craniofac Surg 26 (3):756-759. doi:10.1097/SCS.00000000001663
- 102. Miller JP, Perry EH, Price TH, Bolan CD, Jr., Karanes C, Boyd TM, Chitphakdithai P, King RJ (2008) Recovery and safety profiles of marrow and PBSC donors: experience of the National Marrow Donor Program. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 14 (9 Suppl):29-36. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2008.05.018
- 103. Pulsipher MA, Chitphakdithai P, Logan BR, Navarro WH, Levine JE, Miller JP, Shaw BE, O'Donnell PV, Majhail NS, Confer DL (2014) Lower risk for serious adverse events and no increased risk for cancer after PBSC vs BM donation. Blood 123 (23):3655-3663. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-12-542464
- 104. Holtan SG, Weisdorf DJ (2014) The donor's dilemma. Blood 123 (23):3538-3539. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-04-571661
- 105. Rizzi SC, Upton Z, Bott K, Dargaville TR (2010) Recent advances in dermal wound

healing: biomedical device approaches. Expert Rev Med Devices 7 (1):143-154. doi:10.1586/erd.09.57

- 106. Seifter E, Rettura G, Padawer J, Stratford F, Kambosos D, Levenson SM (1981) Impaired wound healing in streptozotocin diabetes. Prevention by supplemental vitamin A. Ann Surg 194 (1):42-50
- 107. Akasaka Y, Ono I, Tominaga A, Ishikawa Y, Ito K, Suzuki T, Imaizumi R, Ishiguro S, Jimbow K, Ishii T (2007) Basic fibroblast growth factor in an artificial dermis promotes apoptosis and inhibits expression of alpha-smooth muscle actin, leading to reduction of wound contraction. Wound Repair Regen 15 (3):378-389. doi:10.1111/j.1524-475X.2007.00240
- 108. Slavin J (1996) The role of cytokines in wound healing. J Pathol 178 (1):5-10. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9896(199601)178:1<5::AID-PATH443>3.0.CO;2-W
- 109. Greenhalgh DG (1996) The role of growth factors in wound healing. J Trauma 41 (1):159-167
- 110. Hendrickx B, Verdonck K, Van den Berge S, Dickens S, Eriksson E, Vranckx JJ, Luttun A (2010) Integration of blood outgrowth endothelial cells in dermal fibroblast sheets promotes full thickness wound healing. Stem Cells 28 (7):1165-1177. doi:10.1002/stem.445
- 111. Branski LK, Gauglitz GG, Herndon DN, Jeschke MG (2009) A review of gene and stem cell therapy in cutaneous wound healing. Burns 35 (2):171-180. doi:10.1016/j.burns.2008.03.009
- 112. Nambu M, Kishimoto S, Nakamura S, Mizuno H, Yanagibayashi S, Yamamoto N, Azuma R, Nakamura S, Kiyosawa T, Ishihara M, Kanatani Y (2009) Accelerated wound healing in healing-impaired db/db mice by autologous adipose tissue-derived stromal cells combined with atelocollagen matrix. Ann Plast Surg 62 (3):317-321. doi:10.1097/SAP.0b013e31817f01b6
- 113. Ebrahimian TG, Pouzoulet F, Squiban C, Buard V, Andre M, Cousin B, Gourmelon P, Benderitter M, Casteilla L, Tamarat R (2009) Cell therapy based on adipose tissue-derived stromal cells promotes physiological and pathological wound healing. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 29 (4):503-510. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.178962
- 114. Cho HH, Kyoung KM, Seo MJ, Kim YJ, Bae YC, Jung JS (2006) Overexpression of CXCR4 increases migration and proliferation of human adipose tissue stromal cells. Stem Cells Dev 15 (6):853-864. doi:10.1089/scd.2006.15.853
- 115. Gimble JM, Guilak F, Bunnell BA (2010) Clinical and preclinical translation of cellbased therapies using adipose tissue-derived cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 1 (2):19. doi:10.1186/scrt19

- 116. Gimble JM, Bunnell BA, Chiu ES, Guilak F (2011) Concise review: Adiposederived stromal vascular fraction cells and stem cells: let's not get lost in translation. Stem Cells 29 (5):749-754. doi:10.1002/stem.629
- 117. Rigotti G, Marchi A, Galie M, Baroni G, Benati D, Krampera M, Pasini A, Sbarbati A (2007) Clinical treatment of radiotherapy tissue damage by lipoaspirate transplant: a healing process mediated by adipose-derived adult stem cells. Plast Reconstr Surg 119 (5):1409-1422; discussion 1423-1404. doi:10.1097/01.prs.0000256047.47909.71
- 118. Cervelli V, De Angelis B, Lucarini L, Spallone D, Balzani A, Palla L, Gentile P, Cerulli P (2010) Tissue regeneration in loss of substance on the lower limbs through use of platelet-rich plasma, stem cells from adipose tissue, and hyaluronic acid. Adv Skin Wound Care 23 (6):262-272. doi:10.1097/01.ASW.0000363551.82058.36
- 119. Cervelli V, Gentile P, De Angelis B, Calabrese C, Di Stefani A, Scioli MG, Curcio BC, Felici M, Orlandi A (2011) Application of enhanced stromal vascular fraction and fat grafting mixed with PRP in post-traumatic lower extremity ulcers. Stem cell research 6 (2):103-111. doi:10.1016/j.scr.2010.11.003
- 120. Marino G, Moraci M, Armenia E, Orabona C, Sergio R, De Sena G, Capuozzo V, Barbarisi M, Rosso F, Giordano G, Iovino F, Barbarisi A (2013) Therapy with autologous adipose-derived regenerative cells for the care of chronic ulcer of lower limbs in patients with peripheral arterial disease. J Surg Res 185 (1):36-44. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2013.05.024
- 121. Bura A, Planat-Benard V, Bourin P, Silvestre JS, Gross F, Grolleau JL, Saint-Lebese B, Peyrafitte JA, Fleury S, Gadelorge M, Taurand M, Dupuis-Coronas S, Leobon B, Casteilla L (2014) Phase I trial: the use of autologous cultured adipose-derived stroma/stem cells to treat patients with non-revascularizable critical limb ischemia. Cytotherapy 16 (2):245-257. doi:10.1016/j.jcyt.2013.11.011
- 122. Lee HC, An SG, Lee HW, Park JS, Cha KS, Hong TJ, Park JH, Lee SY, Kim SP, Kim YD, Chung SW, Bae YC, Shin YB, Kim JI, Jung JS (2012) Safety and effect of adipose tissue-derived stem cell implantation in patients with critical limb ischemia: a pilot study. Circ J 76 (7):1750-1760
- 123. Bartsich S, Morrison N (2012) Composite fat and skin grafting for the management of chronic sickle cell ulcers. Wounds 24 (3):51-54
- 124. Mineda K, Feng J, Ishimine H, Takada H, Doi K, Kuno S, Kinoshita K, Kanayama K, Kato H, Mashiko T, Hashimoto I, Nakanishi H, Kurisaki A, Yoshimura K (2015) Therapeutic Potential of Human Adipose-Derived Stem/Stromal Cell Microspheroids Prepared by Three-Dimensional Culture in Non-Cross-Linked Hyaluronic Acid Gel. Stem Cells Transl Med 4 (12):1511-1522. doi:10.5966/sctm.2015-0037
- 125. Kuo YR, Wang CT, Cheng JT, Kao GS, Chiang YC, Wang CJ (2016) Adipose-Derived Stem Cells Accelerate Diabetic Wound Healing Through the Induction of

Autocrine and Paracrine Effects. Cell Transplant 25 (1):71-81. doi:10.3727/096368915X687921

- 126. Kinoshita K, Kuno S, Ishimine H, Aoi N, Mineda K, Kato H, Doi K, Kanayama K, Feng J, Mashiko T, Kurisaki A, Yoshimura K (2015) Therapeutic Potential of Adipose-Derived SSEA-3-Positive Muse Cells for Treating Diabetic Skin Ulcers. Stem Cells Transl Med 4 (2):146-155. doi:10.5966/sctm.2014-0181
- 127. Shen T, Pan ZG, Zhou X, Hong CY (2013) Accelerated healing of diabetic wound using artificial dermis constructed with adipose stem cells and poly (L-glutamic acid)/chitosan scaffold. Chin Med J (Engl) 126 (8):1498-1503
- 128. Nie C, Yang D, Xu J, Si Z, Jin X, Zhang J (2011) Locally administered adiposederived stem cells accelerate wound healing through differentiation and vasculogenesis. Cell Transplant 20 (2):205-216. doi:10.3727/096368910X520065
- 129. Hong SJ, Jia SX, Xie P, Xu W, Leung KP, Mustoe TA, Galiano RD (2013) Topically delivered adipose derived stem cells show an activated-fibroblast phenotype and enhance granulation tissue formation in skin wounds. PLoS One 8 (1):e55640. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055640
- 130. Steinberg JP, Hong SJ, Geringer MR, Galiano RD, Mustoe TA (2012) Equivalent effects of topically-delivered adipose-derived stem cells and dermal fibroblasts in the ischemic rabbit ear model for chronic wounds. Aesthet Surg J 32 (4):504-519. doi:10.1177/1090820X12442679
- 131. Zografou A, Papadopoulos O, Tsigris C, Kavantzas N, Michalopoulos E, Chatzistamatiou T, Papassavas A, Stavropoulou-Gioka C, Dontas I, Perrea D (2013) Autologous transplantation of adipose-derived stem cells enhances skin graft survival and wound healing in diabetic rats. Ann Plast Surg 71 (2):225-232. doi:10.1097/SAP.0b013e31826af01a
- 132. Blanton MW, Hadad I, Johnstone BH, Mund JA, Rogers PI, Eppley BL, March KL (2009) Adipose stromal cells and platelet-rich plasma therapies synergistically increase revascularization during wound healing. Plast Reconstr Surg 123 (2 Suppl):56S-64S. doi:10.1097/PRS.0b013e318191be2d
- 133. Kim H, Choi K, Kweon OK, Kim WH (2012) Enhanced wound healing effect of canine adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells with low-level laser therapy in athymic mice. J Dermatol Sci 68 (3):149-156. doi:10.1016/j.jdermsci.2012.09.013
- 134. Lee SH, Lee JH, Cho KH (2011) Effects of Human Adipose-derived Stem Cells on Cutaneous Wound Healing in Nude Mice. Ann Dermatol 23 (2):150-155. doi:10.5021/ad.2011.23.2.150
- 135. Lim JS, Yoo G (2010) Effects of adipose-derived stromal cells and of their extract on wound healing in a mouse model. J Korean Med Sci 25 (5):746-751.

doi:10.3346/jkms.2010.25.5.746

- 136. Lin YC, Grahovac T, Oh SJ, Ieraci M, Rubin JP, Marra KG (2013) Evaluation of a multi-layer adipose-derived stem cell sheet in a full-thickness wound healing model. Acta Biomater 9 (2):5243-5250. doi:10.1016/j.actbio.2012.09.028
- 137. Maharlooei MK, Bagheri M, Solhjou Z, Jahromi BM, Akrami M, Rohani L, Monabati A, Noorafshan A, Omrani GR (2011) Adipose tissue derived mesenchymal stem cell (AD-MSC) promotes skin wound healing in diabetic rats. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 93 (2):228-234. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2011.04.018
- 138. Rodriguez J, Boucher F, Lequeux C, Josset-Lamaugarny A, Rouyer O, Ardisson O, Rutschi H, Sigaudo-Roussel D, Damour O, Mojallal A (2015) Intradermal injection of human adipose-derived stem cells accelerates skin wound healing in nude mice. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:241. doi:10.1186/s13287-015-0238-3
- 139. Nambu M, Ishihara M, Nakamura S, Mizuno H, Yanagibayashi S, Kanatani Y, Hattori H, Takase B, Ishizuka T, Kishimoto S, Amano Y, Yamamoto N, Azuma R, Kiyosawa T (2007) Enhanced healing of mitomycin C-treated wounds in rats using inbred adipose tissue-derived stromal cells within an atelocollagen matrix. Wound Repair Regen 15 (4):505-510. doi:10.1111/j.1524-475X.2007.00258
- 140. Amos PJ, Kapur SK, Stapor PC, Shang H, Bekiranov S, Khurgel M, Rodeheaver GT, Peirce SM, Katz AJ (2010) Human adipose-derived stromal cells accelerate diabetic wound healing: impact of cell formulation and delivery. Tissue Eng Part A 16 (5):1595-1606. doi:10.1089/ten.TEA.2009.0616
- 141. Huang SP, Huang CH, Shyu JF, Lee HS, Chen SG, Chan JY, Huang SM (2013) Promotion of wound healing using adipose-derived stem cells in radiation ulcer of a rat model. J Biomed Sci 20:51. doi:10.1186/1423-0127-20-51
- 142. Liu ZJ, Velazquez OC (2008) Hyperoxia, endothelial progenitor cell mobilization, and diabetic wound healing. Antioxid Redox Signal 10:1869-1882
- 143. Leone AM, Valgimigli M, Giannico MB, Zaccone V, Perfetti M, D'Amario D, Rebuzzi AG, Crea F (2009) From bone marrow to the arterial wall: the ongoing tale of endothelial progenitor cells. Eur Heart J 30 (8):890-899. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehp078
- 144. Maeng YS, Choi HJ, Kwon JY, Park YW, Choi KS, Min JK, Kim YH, Suh PG, Kang KS, Won MH, Kim YM, Kwon YG (2009) Endothelial progenitor cell homing: prominent role of the IGF2-IGF2R-PLCbeta2 axis. Blood 1;113 (1):233-43. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-06-162891. Epub 2008 Oct 2
- 145. Hassan WU, Greiser U, Wang W (2014) Role of adipose-derived stem cells in wound healing. Wound Repair Regen 22:313-325

- 146. Shu W, Shu YT, Dai CY, Zhen QZ (2012) Comparing the biological characteristics of adipose tissue-derived stem cells of different persons. J Cell Biochem 113 (6):2020-2026. doi:10.1002/jcb.24070
- 147. Wu W, Niklason L, Steinbacher DM (2013) The effect of age on human adipose-derived stem cells. Plast Reconstr Surg 131 (1):27-37. doi:10.1097/PRS.0b013e3182729cfc
- 148. Guercio A, Di Bella S, Casella S, Di Marco P, Russo C, Piccione G (2013) Canine mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs): characterization in relation to donor age and adipose tissue-harvesting site. Cell Biol Int 37 (8):789-798. doi:10.1002/cbin.10090
- 149. Fossett E, Khan WS (2012) Optimising human mesenchymal stem cell numbers for clinical application: a literature review. Stem Cells Int 2012:465259. doi:10.1155/2012/465259
- 150. Badiavas EV, Ford D, Liu P, Kouttab N, Morgan J, Richards A, Maizel A (2007) Long-term bone marrow culture and its clinical potential in chronic wound healing. Wound Repair Regen 15 (6):856-865. doi:10.1111/j.1524-475X.2007.00305.
- 151. Rodriguez-Menocal L, Salgado M, Ford D, Van Badiavas E (2012) Stimulation of skin and wound fibroblast migration by mesenchymal stem cells derived from normal donors and chronic wound patients. Stem Cells Transl Med 1 (3):221-229. doi:10.5966/sctm.2011-0029
- 152. Koenen P, Spanholtz TA, Maegele M, Sturmer E, Brockamp T, Neugebauer E, Thamm OC (2015) Acute and chronic wound fluids inversely influence adiposederived stem cell function: molecular insights into impaired wound healing. Int Wound J 12 (1):10-16. doi:10.1111/iwj.12039
- 153. Gemmati D, Federici F, Catozzi L, Gianesini S, Tacconi G, Scapoli GL, Zamboni P (2009) DNA-array of gene variants in venous leg ulcers: detection of prognostic indicators. J Vasc Surg 50 (6):1444-51. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2009.07.103
- 154. Zamboni P, Tognazzo S, Izzo M, Pancaldi F, Scapoli GL, Liboni A, Gemmati D (2005) Hemochromatosis C282Y gene mutation increases the risk of venous leg ulceration. J Vasc Surg 42 (2):309-314
- 155. O'Donnell TF Jr, Passman MA, Marston WA, Ennis WJ, Dalsing M, Kistner RL, Lurie F, Henke PK, Gloviczki ML, Eklöf BG, Stoughton J, Raju S, Shortell CK, Raffetto JD, Partsch H, Pounds LC, Cummings ME, Gillespie DL, McLafferty RB, Murad MH, Wakefield TW, Gloviczki P; Society for Vascular Surgery; American Venous Forum (2014) Society for Vascular Surgery; American Venous Forum. Management of venous leg ulcers: clinical practice guidelines of the Society for Vascular Surgery ® and the American Venous Forum. J Vasc Surg 60 (2 Suppl):3S-59S. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2014.04.049
- 156. Mosti G, De Maeseneer M, Cavezzi A, Parsi K, Morrison N, Nelzen O, Rabe E,

Partsch H, Caggiati A, Simka M, Obermayer A, Malouf M, Flour M, Maleti O, Perrin M, Reina L, Kalodiki E, Mannello F, Rerkasem K, Cornu-Thenard A, Chi YW, Soloviy M, Bottini O, Mendyk N, Tessari L, Varghese R, Etcheverry R, Pannier F, Lugli M, Carvallo Lantz AJ, Zamboni P, Zuolo M, Godoy MF, Godoy JM, Link DP, Junger M, Scuderi A (2015) Society for Vascular Surgery (SVS) and American Venous Forum (AVF) guidelines on management of venous leg ulcers: the International Union of Phlebology (UIP) point of view. Int Angiol 34 (3): 202-218

- 157. Moneta GL (2010) Decreasing venous ulcers by 50% in 10 years: Five critical issues in the diagnosis and investigation of venous disease. J Vasc Surg 52:44S-46S
- 158. Gillespie DL; Writing Group III of the Pacific Vascular Symposium 6, Kistner B, Glass C, Bailey B, Chopra A, Ennis B, Marston B, Masuda E, Moneta G, Nelzen O, Raffetto J, Raju S, Vedantham S, Wright D, Falanga V (2010) Venous ulcer diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of recurrences. J Vasc Surg 52 (5 Suppl):8S-14S. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2010.05.068
- 159. Moran PS, Teljeur C, Harrington P, Ryan M (2015) A systematic review of intermittent pneumatic compression for critical limb ischaemia. Vasc Med 20 (1):41-50. doi: 10.1177/1358863X14552096
- 160. Manfredini F, Malagoni AM, Felisatti M, Mandini S, Lamberti N, Manfredini R, Mascoli F, Basaglia N, Zamboni P (2014) Acute oxygenation changes on ischemic foot of a novel intermittent pneumatic compression device and of an existing sequential device in severe peripheral arterial disease. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 31:14:40. doi: 10.1186/1471-2261-14-40
- 161. Ferrara F, Meli F, Raimondi F, Amato C, Bonura F, Mulè G, Novo G, Novo S S (2007) The treatment of venous leg ulcers: a new therapeutic use of iloprost. Ann Surg 246 (5):860-865
- 162. Werner-Schlenzka H, Kuhlmann RK (1994) Treatment of venous leg ulcers with topical iloprost: a placebo controlled study. Vasa 23:145-150
- 163. Arosio E, Ferrari G, Santoro L, Gianese F, Coccheri S; Mesoglycan Venous Insufficiency Group (2001) A placebo-controlled, double-blind study of mesoglycan in the treatment of chronic venous ulcers. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 22:365-372
- 164. Benjamin MM, Khalil RA (2012) Matrix Metalloproteinase Inhibitors as Investigative Tools in the Pathogenesis and Management of Vascular Disease. EXS 103:209-279
- 165. Mannello F, Raffetto J (2011) Matrix metalloproteinase activity and glycosaminoglycans in chronic venous disease: the linkage among cell biology, pathology and translational research. Am J Transl Res 3:149-158
- 166. Grinnel F, Zhu M (1994) Identification of neutrophil elastase as the proteinase in

burn wound fluid responsible for degradation of fibronectin. J Invest Dermatol 103:155-161

- 167. Grinnel F, Zhu M (1996) Fibronectin degradation in chronic wounds depends on the relative levels of elastase, alpha1-proteinase inhibitor, and alpha2-macroglobulin. J Invest Dermatol 106:335-341
- 168. Herrick SE, Sloan P, McGurk M, Freak L, McCollum CN, Ferguson MW (1992) Sequential changes in histologic pattern and extracellular matrix deposition during the healing of chronic venous ulcers. Am J Pathol 141 (5):1085-1095
- 169. Breaking down fat: Considerations for adipose tissue processing. Bersenev A. Adipose. July 12, 2014 http://stemcellassays.com/2014/07/breaking-fat-processingconsiderations/
- 170. Fraccalvieri M, Serra R, Ruka E, Zingarelli E, Antoniotti U, Robbiano F, Viglione M, Frisicale L, Bruschi S (2011) Surgical debridement with VERSAJET: an analysis of bacteria load of the wound bed pre- and post-treatment and skin graft taken. A preliminary pilot study. Int Wound 8 (2):155-161. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-481X.2010.00762
- 171. Zollino I, Sibilla MG, Gianesini S, Menegatti E, Tessari M, Malagoni AM (2017) Technique for intraoperatory harvesting of adipose derived stem cells: towards cell treatment of recalcitrant ulcers. Veins and Lymphatics 6:6814
- 172. Ruan X, Padnos IW, Kaye AD (2016) Validation of a New "Objective Pain Score" vs. "Numeric Rating Scale" For the Evaluation of Acute Pain: A Comparative Study. Anesth Pain Med 6 (4):e38886
- 173. Situm M, Kolić M, Spoljar S (2016) Quality of life and psychological aspects in patients with chronic leg ulcer. Acta Med Croatica 70 (1):61-63
- 174. Kantor J, Margolis DJ (2000) A multicentre study of percentage change in venous leg ulcer area as a prognostic index of healing at 24 weeks. Br J Dermatol 142 (5):960-964
- 175. Zuk PA, Zhu M, Ashjian P, De Ugarte DA, Huang JI, Mizuno H, Alfonso ZC, Fraser JK, Benhaim P, Hedrick MH (2002) Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. Mol Biol Cell 13 (12):4279-4295
- 176. Laver J, Kwon JH, Castro-Malaspina H (1987) Effects of low dose rate irradiation on human marrow hematopoietic and microenvironmental cells: sparing effect upon survival of stromal and leukemic cells. Bone Marrow Transplant 2 (3):271-278
- 177. Kushner BH, Siena S, Castro-Malaspina H (1987) Myeloablation with diaziquone: in vitro assessment. Blood 69 (6):1747-1752

- 178. Campioni D, Moretti S, Ferrari L, Punturieri M, Castoldi GL, Lanza F (2006) Immunophenotypic heterogeneity of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells from patients with hematologic disorders: correlation with bone marrow microenvironment. Haematologica 91 (3):364-368
- 179. Campioni D, Lanza F, Moretti S, Ferrari L, Cuneo A (2008) Loss of Thy-1 (CD90) antigen expression on mesenchymal stromal cells from hematologic malignancies is induced by in vitro angiogenic stimuli and is associated with peculiar functional and phenotypic characteristics. Cytotherapy 10 (1):69-82. doi: 10.1080/14653240701762364
- 180. Campioni D, Bardi MA, Cavazzini F, Tammiso E, Pezzolo E, Pregnolato E, Volta E, Cuneo A, Lanza F (2012) Cytogenetic and molecular cytogenetic profile of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells in chronic and acute lymphoproliferative disorders. Ann Hematol 91 (10):1563-77. doi: 10.1007/s00277-012-1500-8
- 181. Smahel J (1986) Adipose tissue in plastic surgery. Ann Plast Surg 16 (5):444-453
- 182. Mojallal A, Foyatier JL (2004) Historical review of the use of adipose tissue transfer in plastic and reconstructive surgery. Ann Chir Plast Esthet 49 (5):419-425
- 183. Gimble JM, Bunnell BA, Guilak F (2012) Human adipose-derived cells: an update on the transition to clinical translation. Regen Med 7 (2):225-235. doi: 10.2217/rme.11.119
- 184. Piccinno MS, Veronesi E, Loschi P. Pignatti M, Murgia A, Grisendi G, Castelli I, Bernabei D, Candini O, Conte P, Paolucci P, Horwitz E, De Santis G, Iughetti L, Dominici M (2013) Adipose stromal/stem cells assist fat transplantation reducing necrosis and increasing graft performance. Apoptosis 18:1274-1289
- 185. Pelizzo G, Avanzini MA, Cornaglia AI, Osti M. Romano P. Avolio L, Maccario R, Dominici M, De Silvestri A, Andreatta E, Costanzo F, Mantelli M, Ingo D, Piccinno S, Calcaterra V (2015) Mesenchymal stromal cells for cutaneous wound healing in a rabbit model; pre-clinical study applicable in the pediatric surgical setting. J Transl Med 13:219-224
- 186. Launois R (2015) Health-related quality-of-life scales specific for chronic venous disorders of the lower limbs. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord 3 (2):219-27.e1-3. doi: 10.1016/j.jvsv.2014.08.005
- 187. Charles H (2002) Venous leg ulcer pain and its characteristics. J Tissue Viability 12 (4):154-158
- 188. Parra S, Lacouture P, Giles H (2016) (151) Chronic leg ulcer pain a need for effective topical analgesia. J Pain 17 (4S):S13-S14. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2016.01.054

- 189. Konala VB, Mamidi MK, Bhonde R, Das AK, Pochampally R, Pal R (2016) The current landscape of the mesenchymal stromal cell secretome: a new paradigm for cell-free regeneration. Cytotherapy 18 (1);13-24. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2015.10.008
- 190. Baek SJ, Kang SK, Ra JC (2011) In vitro migration capacity of human adipose tissue derived mesenchymal stem cells reflects their expression of receptors for chemokines and growth factors. Exp Mol Med 43 (10):596-603. doi: 10.3858/emm.2011.43.10.069
- 191. Athanerey A, Patra PK, Kumar A (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell in venous leg ulcer: An intoxicating therapy. J Tissue Viability 26 (3):216-223.
- 192. Zimmerlin L, Donneneberg VS, Donneneberg AD (2012) Pericytes: a universal adult tissue stem cell? Cytometry A 81 (1):12–14. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.21168
- 193. Feisst V, Meidinger S, Locke MB (2015) From bench to bedside: use of human adipose-derived stem cells. Stem Cells Cloning 2; 8:149-62. doi: 10.2147/SCCAA.S64373
- 194. Zimmerlin L, Donnenberg VS, Pfeifer ME, Meyer EM, Peault B, Rubin JP, Donnenberg AD (2010) Stromal vascular progenitors in adult human adipose tissue. Cytometry A 77 (1):22–30. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.20813
- 195. Bassi G, Pacelli L, Carusone R, Zanoncello J, Krampera M (2012) Adipose-derived stromal cells (ASCs). Transfus Apher Sci 47 (2):193-8. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2012.06.004
- 196. Breaking down fat: FDA's position on regulation of adipose tissue-derived cell products. Bersenev A. Adipose. January 3, 2015 http://stemcellassays.com/2015/01/breaking-fat-fdas-position-regulation-adipose-tissue-derived-cell-products/.
- 197. Ibatici A, Caviggioli F, Valeriano V, Quirici N, Sessarego N, Lisa A, Klinger F, Forcellini D, Maione L, Klinger M (2014) Comparison of cell number, viability, phenotypic profile, clonogenic, and proliferative potential of adipose-derived stem cell populations between centrifuged and noncentrifuged fat. Aesthetic Plast Surg 38 (5):985-93. doi: 10.1007/s00266-014-0372-9

APPENDIX

In this section, our results regarding the new generation bioscaffold and ADSCs are reported.

Keratin scaffold

Several natural polymers were studied for biomedical applications in the search for biocompatibility, biodegradability and promotion of cell adhesion. In particular, proteinbased materials were proposed for various biomedical and biotechnological applications due to their ability to function as extracellular matrices which facilitate cell-cell and cellmatrix interactions. From these, keratin-based materials have emerged as promising due to their biocompatibility, biodegradability and stimulation of cell adhesion.

Keratin is one of the most plentiful non-food proteins in nature, found in hair, nails, hooves, horn and wool. It has the highest sulphur content of any protein due to its high cysteine content - an amino acid which gives rise to intra- and intermolecular bridges, making keratin a protein with chemical stability and high tenacity [1]. Scientific studies have also shown how keratin plays a positive role in stimulating an anti-inflammatory response mediated by cytokine [2], has a hemostatic action [3] and adapts to the cultivation of several types of cell, for example fibroblasts [4] and osteoblasts [5]. This innate capacity is also due to the presence of specific amino acid sequences in the protein structure which promote the adhesion of cells to the culture medium (arginine-glycine - aspartic acid: RGD and leucine - aspartic acid - valine: LDV).

Wool fibers are formed of keratin and present a complex histological structure [6]. The external shell is made up of overlapping cuticular cells which surround the cortex and intercellular cement. The cortex makes up the bulk of the fiber and consists of cuticular cells with a fusiform structure oriented parallel to the axis, while the intercellular cement glues together the cortical cells (fibril).

The keratin is generally extracted from natural substances through oxidising or reducing agents, to obtain a protein solution from which gel, sponge or fibres are produced. For this study, keratin biomaterials were produced from wool fiber using ultrasonic fibrillation,

exploiting the histological structure of the fiber itself (fibril) to produce porous material suitable for use as a scaffold. The fibrillation of the wool fiber structure produces an aqueous suspension of fibril which, after a salt-leaching process consisting of the addition of salt of controlled size in quantities above the saturation point and then its removal by washing, becomes a spongy scaffold (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Visual appeareance of the wool fibril sponge (wet state). (Courtesy of Dr. Alessia Patrucco)

The scaffolds obtained have both macro- and micro-porosity. The macro-porosity is useful for cell settlement, derived from the salt added and removed during the salt-leaching process, while the microporosity, which aids the passage of nutrients and facilitates cell-cell interactions, comes from the fibril network. The total interconnected porosity is high (93%) and the microscopic structure mimics the ECM [7].

The procedure that leads to the fibril sponge requires a mild alkaline treatment before the application of ultrasound. The keratin reaction to the alkaline converts the disulphide bonds present within the cysteine into shorter monosulphide bonds of lanthionine, which leads to an increase in thermal stability and in aqueous solutions [7].

The sponges demonstrate an enhanced swelling in water of 38% due to the combination of porosity and the raised hydrophilicity of the wool keratin. Despite the high swelling, the sponges are stable in aqueous solutions without structural changes and show excellent resilience to repeated cycles of compression (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Behavior under compression of sponges respectively dried and soaked, exposed to 10 compression cycles. (Courtesy of Dr. Alessia Patrucco)

To verify the functionality of these scaffolds, both stem cells derived from the lipoaspirate of patients suffering from chronic venous leg ulcers and cells derived from the ulcers of the patients themselves were cultivated using keratin fibril sponges. The good adhesion and the proliferation of cells reported are due to the excellent biocompatibility of wool keratin, as well as to the micro and macroporous structure with high interconnection due to the cortical cell network and the salt-leaching process.

Within tissue repair processes, this is an innovative scaffold, as the most widely used media are mainly based on hyaluronic acid [8-10].

Scaffold preparation and co-culture

Once lipoaspirate cells and cells from the ulcers were isolated, we trypsinized these cells and kept them in suspension in culture medium. Multiple well plates were then set up in which thin scaffold slices were deposited. In the well we added suitable culture medium 5100 (DOM) type Dexter (StemCell Technologies Inc., Vancouver, B.C., Canada), supplemented with 12,5% fetal serum, 12.5% horse serum, (StemCell Technologies Inc., Vancouver, B.C., Canada), 1% penicillin/ streptomycin, 2% L-glutamine (both products supplied by Invitrogen Ltd, Paisley, UK) and subsequently co-cultured with scaffolds two cell wells with stem cells derived from the lipoaspirate and two other wells with cells derived from the ulcers. As a control, in two further wells, scaffold fragments were left in culture without cells. The cultures were observed daily for at least 15 days.

Growth of cells on the scaffold

After 15 days, we picked up scaffold fragments left in co-culture with the cells for 15 days and proceeded immediately with glutaraldehyde fixation for the preparation of the pieces at scanning microscopy observation in order to verify any growth of the two types of cells on the scaffolds. After fixation, the pellets were dehydrated in a descending alcohol scale and prepared according to standard scanning microscopy procedures.

The first results were good, since, as can be seen in Figures 3 and 4, the adherent cells derived from ulcer and lipoaspirate cells are shown on the narrow scattered fiber texture of the scaffold.



Figure 3. *Micrographs with scanning electron microscope: (A) and (C) Network structure of the scaffold remaining in cell culture at different magnifications; (B) and (D) the scaffold plot shows visible cells derived from the ulcers of the patients. The cells appear as wide and continuous areas resting on the scaffolds.*



Figure 4. *Micrographs with scanning electron microscope: (A) and (B) structure of the scaffold remaining in culture without cells at different magnifications; (C) and (D) co-culture of the scaffold with lipoaspirated stem cells: it is visible that the cells are attached to the base of the scaffold and that they retain adhesion after culture.*

Conclusion

These early results are encouraging, as they demonstrate good adhesion compatibility between the new generation bio-scaffold and the ulcer microenvironment cells, as well as with the stem cells to be transported inside it.

List of abbreviations

RGD Arginine-glycine - aspartic acid *LDV* Leucine - aspartic acid - valine

REFERENCES

- 1. Barone JR, Shmidt WF, Christina F, Liebner E (2005) Thermally processed keratin films. J Appl Polym Sci 97:1644–1651
- 2. Bailey V, Fearing A, Mark E, Dyke V (2014) In vitro response of macrophage polarization to a keratin biomaterial. Acta Biomater 10:3136–3144
- Burnett LR, Richter JG, Rahmany MB, Soler R, Steen JA, Orlando G, Abouswareb T, Van Dyke ME (2014) Novel keratin (KeraStat[™]) and polyurethane (Nanosan®-Sorb) biomaterials are hemostatic in a porcine lethal extremity hemorrhage model. Journal of Biomaterials Applications 28 (6) 869–879
- 4. Tachibana A, Furuta Y, Takeshima H, Tanabe T, Yamauchi K (2002) Fabrication of wool keratin sponge scaffolds for long-term cell cultivation. J Biotechnol 93:165–170
- 5. Tachibana A, Kaneko S, Tanabe T, Yamauchi K (2005) Rapid fabrication of keratin hydroxyapatite hybrid sponges toward osteoblast cultivation and differentiation. Biomaterials 26:297–302
- 6. Vineis C, Aluigi A, Tonin C (2011) Outstanding traits and thermal behaviour for the identification of specialty animal fibres. Text Res J 81 (3): 264–272
- Patrucco A, Cristofaro F, Simionati M, Zoccola M, Bruni G, Fassina L, Visai L, Magenes L, Mossotti R, Montarsolo A, Tonin A (2016) Wool fibril sponges with perspective biomedical applications. Materials Science and Engineering C 61:42– 50
- Messina A, Bortolotto SK, Cassell OC, Kelly J, Abberton KM, Morrison WA (2005) Generation of a vascularized organoid using skeletal muscle as the inductive source. FASEB J 19 (11):1570-1572
- Zavan B, Vindigni V, Vezzu` K, Zorzato G, Luni C, Abatangelo G, Elvassore N, Cortivo R (2009) Hyaluronan based porous nano-particles enriched with growth factors for the treatment of ulcers: a placebo-controlled study. J Mater Sci Mater Med 20 (1):235-247. doi: 10.1007/s10856-008-3566-3
- 10. Pandis L, Zavan B, Abatangelo G, Lepidi S, Cortivo R, Vindigni V (2010) Hyaluronan-based scaffold for in vivo regeneration of the rat vena cava: preliminary results in an animal model. J Biomed Mater Res A 93 (4):1289-1296. doi: 10.1002/jbm.a.32626